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RDC is proud of the people who make our institution a vibrant space where teaching and  
learning thrive. All photographs used in this document are from RDC’s collection of photos  

showcasing our people, facilities and connections to the communities we serve.
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VISION
To be the post-secondary institution of choice serving learners and 

communities through leadership, excellence, and innovation.

MISSION
Because of Red Deer College: The intellectual, economic, cultural 
and social development of Central Alberta is strengthened and 

enriched while demonstrating good stewardship.

VALUES
Learning is at the heart of RDC. Our values form a constant guide 

for planning, decision-making, and working together as a learning 
community.

Our values are

Excellence  |  Integrity  |  Accountability 
Exploration  |  Inclusiveness  |  Community
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Red Deer College is a board governed public college operating 
as a Comprehensive Community Institution under the authority 
of The Post-secondary Learning Act of Alberta.

Red Deer College offers programs that lead to further education 
or to career employment through its apprenticeship programs, 
certificates, diplomas, applied baccalaureate degrees, and 
baccalaureate degrees, primarily in collaboration with degree-
granting institutions. In addition, the College provides adult 
upgrading programs that facilitate entry into further studies 
and continuing education and contract training programs 
that meet community needs for lifelong learning and career 
advancement.

Red Deer College offers programs and courses to full and 
part time learners from diverse cultural, educational and 
social backgrounds with varying skills and experiences in the 
following areas of study: liberal arts, business and commerce, 
education, engineering, health services, hospitality and tourism, 
human services, kinesiology and sport studies, performing arts, 
science, technology, trades, transportation, and visual art. 

As a Comprehensive Community Institution with regional 
stewardship responsibilities, Red Deer College provides adult 
learners in the Central Alberta region with opportunities to 
attain post-secondary education through its courses, programs, 
and services. It does so in collaboration with school districts, 
other post-secondary institutions, adult learning organizations, 
business and industry, and community agencies throughout 
the region. 

Red Deer College is a partner in Campus Alberta collaborating 
with other educational organizations and post-secondary 
institutions in providing a seamless and responsive advanced 
education system that provides high-quality learning 
opportunities in support of lifelong learning.

 Through a variety of approaches in educational delivery 
including face-to-face, distributed learning, and blended 
learning the College provides quality programs that address 
diverse learning styles and time and location requirements of its 
learners. Red Deer College supports learner success with high 
quality student support services including advising, personal 
and career counseling, athletics, food services, child care, 
financial aid, health, library, recreation, residence, and academic 
support.  

Red Deer College initiates and supports partnerships with the 
community, business and industry, public service providers, 
educational agencies, and research agencies in order to 
facilitate access to learning and to promote innovation. Through 
its philosophy of placing learning at the center of everything it 
does, Red Deer College promotes teaching excellence and high 
quality programming. 

Encouragement of scholarly and creative activity amongst its 
staff and support for applied research and innovation enable 
the College to enhance student learning, to continue the 
growth of expertise of its faculty, and to contribute to the 
economic and social development of the region. 

Through its international focus, Red Deer College is committed 
to increasing the skill and knowledge of its learners and its 
community to become better integrated into the global 
community. This includes opportunities to study abroad, host 
international learners on-campus, assist in the development of 
educational services in other countries, and provide global and 
international perspectives in its curricula.

The College plays a pivotal role in the community by providing 
facilities, expertise, leadership, and innovation that assist in the 
economic, social, cultural, recreational, athletic, and educational 
development of Red Deer and its surrounding communities.

Approved by the Minister of Advanced  
Education and Technology  
May 2010

ACCOUNTABILITY 
STATEMENT

Red Deer College’s Annual Report for the year ended June 30, 2018 was prepared 
under the Board’s direction in accordance with the Fiscal Planning and Transparency 
Act and ministerial guidelines established pursuant to the Post-Secondary Learning Act.  
All material economic, environmental or fiscal implications of which we are aware have 
been considered in the preparation of this report.

Morris Flewwelling 
Chair, Board of Governors 
December 6, 2018

Red Deer College’s management is responsible for the preparation, accuracy, objectivity 
and integrity of the information contained in the Annual Report including the financial 
statements, performance results and supporting management information. Systems 
of internal control are designed and maintained by management to produce reliable 
information to meet reporting requirements. The system is designed to provide 
management with reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized, are 
executed in accordance with all relevant legislation, regulations and policies, reliable 
financial records are maintained and assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded.

The Annual Report has been developed under the oversight of the institution audit 
committee, as well as approved by the Board of Governors and is prepared in accordance 
with the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act and the Post-secondary Learning Act.

The Auditor General of the Province of Alberta, the institution’s external auditor appointed 
under the Auditor General Act, performs an annual independent audit of the consolidated 
financial statements which are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards.

Joel Ward, President and CEO 
December 6, 2018

MANAGEMENT’S 
RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR REPORTING

PUBLIC INTEREST 
DISCLOSURE 

(WHISTLEBLOWER 
PROTECTION) 

ACTIVITY

Red Deer College provides avenues for the safe disclosure of concerns related to 
wrongdoing and misconduct. The College did not receive any disclosures or conduct 
any investigations under the Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act from 
July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018.

Joel Ward 
President and Chief Officer under the Public Interest Disclosure 
(Whistleblower Protection) Act 
December 6, 2018

MANDATE

[Original signed by:]

[Original signed by:]

[Original signed by:]
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RED DEER COLLEGE 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Dr. Morris Flewwelling 
Chair

Joel Ward 
President & CEO

Gilles Allard Dianne Balon
(until June 2018)

Charlene Burns

Malcolm Bell
(until May 2018)

Robin Chiles Joe Henderson Dianne Macaulay 
 (from December 2017)

Emeka Nwachukwu
 (from December 2017)

Dr. Dustin Quirk 
 (from June 2018)

Ralph Salomons 
 (until October 2017)

Dustin Sundby 
 (until November 2017)

PJ Swales 
 (from August 2017)

Red Deer College has been an essential part of the landscape of central Alberta for 
more than five decades. We are so proud of the significance of our history, and we are 
excited for the incredible potential for this institution’s future. 

As a Board, we are dedicated to undertaking strategic and diverse work to benefit our 
learners and citizens from across the region. The foundational, guiding force behind 
this is summarized in our mission, and we have an unwavering commitment to ensure 
that the intellectual, economic, cultural and social development of central Alberta is 
strengthened and enriched, while we continue to demonstrate good stewardship.

Every decision we make is viewed from the perspective of how it will impact our current 
and future learners and the communities we serve. This is the basis of our on-going 
work as a learner-centred institution. One of the ways that we achieve this is through 
broad consultation with a wide variety of stakeholders, including our government and 
business partners, agencies, organizations, learners and citizens. These conversations 
allow us to connect directly with those our institution serves, which further helps to 
inform us as we set the future direction for RDC. 

And the future for our College has never looked so bright. Thank you to Premier Rachel 
Notley, Minister of Advanced Education Marlin Schmidt, and the Government of 
Alberta for bringing the most welcome news that Red Deer College has been given 
approval to become a recognized university. We are deeply grateful the Government 
has heard the voices of our students, community members and partners, as they have 
echoed our message about what a university will mean to this region. 

The university we become will have far-reaching and powerful impacts for students, 
future students, citizens, businesses and organizations across central Alberta. We are 
dedicated to this future vision, and we will continue to work and plan with thoughtful 
determination and foresight to ensure it becomes a reality. 

Dr. Morris Flewwelling, Chair
Board of Governors 

BOARD OF  
GOVERNORS’  
MESSAGE

[Original signed by:]



8  |  RED DEER COLLEGE 2017/2018 ANNUAL REPORT   |   9

The extensive work to transition to a university has begun, and we anticipate this process will take three 
to five years. While this is underway, we are articulating the vision of what our College will become, 
something different and unique across the province. Different, for us, means meeting the needs of 
students and communities in an applied and practical way as a comprehensive regional teaching 
university, offering a full range of credentials from apprenticeships to four-year degrees.

A diverse mix of locally relevant and specialized programs will be the key pillar of our new university. 
The groundwork for programming has been established through a diligent process of research, 
consultation and engagement with the development of our Ten-Year Program Mix Plan.

The realization of this planning is evident with the new programs being offered. In 2017-18, RDC 
launched two new credit programs with the Engineering Technology Diploma and the Human 
Resources Management Graduate Certificate. And throughout the 2018-19 academic year, we are 
launching seven new programs across a range of credentials: a four-year degree, a collaborative 
degree, a diploma, a certificate and three post-diploma certificates. This breadth of new programming 
complements our existing scope, creating dynamic and engaging learning opportunities that position 
our learners for success.

Beyond program development, stakeholder engagement is helping to shape and define our College 
in other ways. Building Bridges: an Indigenous Education Strategic Plan for Red Deer College is the 
outcome of broad consultation with Indigenous communities and Elders, as well as faculty, staff and 
Indigenous students at RDC. These conversations provided the foundation for the Plan while informing 
and guiding the on-going, collaborative approaches that RDC will undertake to best serve Indigenous 
learners and their communities. 

As RDC grows and evolves from educational and partnership perspectives, we are also ensuring we 
have the physical institutional capacity for the future. On June 19, 2018, we completed the largest 
construction project since our main campus was first created, and the keys for the Gary W. Harris Canada 
Games Centre/Centre des Jeux du Canada Gary W. Harris were handed over from our contractor. This 
building increases our main campus capacity by more than 25 percent, providing spaces for teaching, 
learning and research, while also allowing for incredible hosting opportunities including our role in the 
2019 Canada Winter Games. 

We are continuing to be innovative through our facility development and our vision for the future, 
as demonstrated by the Alternative Energy Initiative. This comprehensive initiative includes many 
sustainable and alternative energy technologies, such as the installation of thousands of solar panels 
on main campus. With the scale of this installation, we have been advised that RDC is a post-secondary 
leader, and we likely have the largest institutional solar array in Canada.

Through extensive planning, Red Deer College has established the foundation for our future. We are 
growing through new programs, partnerships and opportunities, and we are keeping our students 
and communities at the forefront throughout all of our planning and decision-making. Our enrolment 
continues to grow, and we look forward to maintaining this momentum and continuing to play a 
pivotal role in the lives of central Albertans.

Joel Ward
President & CEO

PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE
M a r c h  1 ,  2 0 1 8 ,  w a s  a  h i s t o r i c  d a y 
for Red Deer College.  With 600 people 
packing our Arts Centre and many more 
watching via l ivestream, Premier Rachel 
Not ley  shared the  long-awai ted news 
t h a t  R e d  D e e r  Co l l e g e  w i l l  b e c o m e  a 
recognized university. 

[Original signed by:]
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OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
In 2017/2018, Red Deer College (RDC) achieved a significant 
milestone in the history of post-secondary education in central 
Alberta. On March 1, 2018 Premier Rachel Notley and the 
Minister of Alberta Advanced Education (AAE), Marlin Schmidt 
announced that RDC was granted approval to offer its own 
degrees and begin the journey to become a comprehensive 
regional teaching University. This change addresses the 
challenge for RDC, and the Central Region, to provide affordable 
access to sufficient diverse post-secondary education 
opportunities for its residents, and encourage young people to 
remain in the region and contribute to its economic, intellectual, 
social, and cultural development. 

The move toward University status aligns well with AAE’s 
objective, as stated in the 2017-20 Business Plan, to make 
adult learning opportunities accessible and affordable for all 
Albertans. This new direction for RDC is also in support of the 
Western Canada Growth Strategy introduced by the federal 
government on September 11, 2018. As a degree-granting 
institution, RDC continues to equip western Canadians, 
particularly in the Central Region of Alberta, with the skills 
needed for a diversified new economy, driving innovation in 
the West. 

RDC provides access to a diverse array of programming that 
meets the needs of over 325,000 residents living throughout 
the Central Region, and the population of the Central Region 
continues to grow (14% growth projected over the next ten 
years). In 2017/2018, RDC continued to demonstrate regional 
stewardship in its work through Campus Alberta Central 
(CAC) to improve the affordability, accessibility, and quality 
of rural programming. New diplomas and degree-tracks were 
developed in response to regional requests, and access to post-
secondary education through Community Adult Learning 
Programs was made available within an hour’s commute from 
all rural jurisdictions. The most popular programs continue to 
reflect the need for RDC to grant its own Bachelor degrees in 
the areas of Education, Arts, Nursing, Business, and Science  
(with notable growth in the specializations of Pre-Pharmacy,  
Pre-Veterinary Medicine, and Chemistry). In programs that 
are more directly tied to regional economic health, such as 
trades and contract training, additional efforts were devoted 
to developing new and unique educational opportunities for 
learners in these areas.

In 2017/2018, RDC met the projected growth target for 
regular credit programming. The programs that grew more 
than projected include the Early Learning and Child Care 
programs, Educational Assistant program and the Practical 
Nurse program. Due to the economic impact of the economy 
on business and industry in the Central Region, enrolment in 
Apprenticeship programming at RDC did not meet what was 
projected. 

The Central Region is a hub for the oil and gas industry in 
Alberta, and its economy is affected by changes in energy 
prices. By virtue of the diversity of RDC’s comprehensive 
programming, total annual enrolment is somewhat insulated 
from economic fluctuations. A strong economy provides 
additional employment in local business and industry creating 
greater demand for apprenticeship seats at RDC. A weaker 
economy provides fewer job opportunities to draw potential 
students away from post-secondary education and results in 
additional enrolment in RDC’s regular credit programs. 

In 2017/2018, the Alberta economy experienced the 
beginnings of recovery evidenced by a rising employment 
rate (1.5%) and growth in real GPD (4.9%).  Alberta’s Economic 
Activity Index reached a 10 year record high in 2017 placing 
it on par with pre-recession levels. Along with a GDP that 
grew more than projected in the provincial budget, higher 
than expected oil prices, lower deficits, and greater revenues 
than initially predicted, the Alberta economy demonstrated 
increasing resilience in 2017/2018. The impact of this recovery 
wasn’t enough to increase demand for seats in Apprenticeship 
programs, however overall enrolment at RDC remained similar 
to 2016/2017 due to mitigating strategies such as developing 
new regular credit programs and a more comprehensive 
program mix. 2017/2018 marked the third consecutive year 
of enrolment growth in regular credit programs at RDC (22% 
growth over 3 years).  

The 2017/2018 academic year marks an unprecedented time 
of construction and expansion for RDC. Institutional human 
and capital resources were committed to major building 
project initiatives including the Gary W. Harris Canada Games 
Centre (GWHCGC), Alternative Energy Lab (AEL), and the 
new student residence. All three buildings provide primary 
examples, at a national level, for solar energy integration and 
sustainable facilities with Energy Efficiency Alberta promoting 
RDC for having the largest institutional solar array in Canada. 
The GWHCGC is a state of the art sport, health, and wellness 
facility that will also serve to host five events for the 2019 
Canada Winter Games. More significant, the  Centre was 
constructed with a primary focus on “the day after the Games”, 
providing needed space for teaching and learning plus health 
and wellness activities for RDC students and staff, community 
members from across the central Alberta region and also, a  
home for Hockey Alberta, a valued partner of RDC.

During 2017/2018, RDC demonstrated its commitment 
to educational experiences based on learner-centred 
principles, where student success is tied to program 
outcomes, academic excellence, and processes that 
continually enhance teaching and learning. To promote 
diversity, inclusiveness and help ensure every student finds 
their community at RDC, ongoing funding was provided for 
the position of Indigenous Student Services Coordinator 
in partial fulfilment of the new 2017 Building Bridges: An 
Indigenous Education Strategic Plan. The College also refined 
its approach to assessing existing programs in order to 
provide a comprehensive program mix that is responsive to 
regional needs. In addition, the College created efficiencies, 
sustainabil ity,  and promoted operational excellence 
engaging in organizational restructuring, implementing 
management and onboarding training requirements, and 
contracting KPMG to facilitate strategies on continuous 
improvement. RDC administration also engaged in strategies 
to improve communications and transparency with faculty  
and staff. These initiatives, together with a bold vision 
for growth in the future, strengthen RDC’s position as a 
community partner and bridge to a better life for Albertans.

STRATEGIC 
DIRECTIONS

STRATEGIC DIRECTIONS
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Percentage of Graduates Reporting Learner-Centred 
Characteristics in Programs and Services

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

93.0% 93.2% 94.3%

Percentage of Faculty and Staff Reporting  
Learner-Centred Characteristics in their Work

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

78.6% 79.2% 81.1%

RDC  |  GOAL 1 RDC WILL BUILD A LEARNER-CENTRED CULTURE

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P1: 

Red Deer College continued to implement strategies to 
develop a learner-centred culture based on five main 
practices. These include the:

• Balance of Power which creates community through the 
sharing of power and control,

• Function of Content in an emphasis on what the learner 
retains rather than what is taught, 

• Role of the Teacher where instructors model their courses 
so that their role is that of facilitator, designer, or guide; 

• Responsibility for Learning which creates a community of 
learning, and 

• Assessment and Evaluation to monitor learning and 
determine the effectiveness of instruction. 

Various Schools, Departments and program areas engaged 
in activities to ensure the individual needs of learners were 
addressed. Among these a Learner-Centred Task Force within 
the School of Arts and Sciences was formed to examine 
flexibility within learning including topics such as providing 
students greater choices and influence over course schedules, 
assignment criteria, and assessment criteria. A draft set of 
principles for practices in the School will be shared with 
School Council early in the 2018-19 academic year. The 
Task force will also examine accessibility to learning as it is 
influenced by access to resources such as texts, instructors, 
software and hardware requirements. 

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P1 
Implement strategies to promote learner-centred practices 
in each School, division, and department.

Status: 
Progress made

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

EO1 
A common understanding and application of learner-
centred practice is shared by faculty and staff.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018
 

• Quality

EO2 
The overall student experience is enhanced with RDC’s 
solid positioning as an institution where the individual 
needs of learners and learning are the primary focus. 

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018
 

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

EO3 
Faculty and staff benefit from working in an 
environment that incorporates learner-centred 
characteristics. 

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

PM1 
High proportions of graduates report learner-centred 
culture characteristics in their programs and services.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018
 

PM2 
High proportions of faculty and staff report learner- 
centred culture characteristics in their work. 

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018
 

PM3 
High proportions of course outlines reflect learner- 
centred characteristics.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018
 

In 2017/18, this Performance Measure was  
re-evaluated and it was determined that measuring 
outcomes from graduates that reflect the actual learner 
experience is the appropriate measure of performance 
for this priority initiative (rather than using an input 
measure such as course outlines). For this reason, 
there is no data reported for Performance Measure 3, 
however, outcomes from graduates will be included in 
future CIP Performance Measures for RDC.

GOAL 1
RDC WILL BUILD  

A LEARNER-CENTRED 
CULTURE.

GOALS, PRIORITY INITIATIVES, EXPECTED OUTCOMES  
AND PERFORMANCE MEASURES
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The Administrative team at the Donald School of Business 
spent the past year exploring concepts covered in the book; 
“Leading the Learner Centred Campus.”  Each month the team 
reviewed a chapter in the book to understand its principles 
and how they could be applied within the School. Plans for 
2018/2019 include expanding this activity to include the 
entire faculty in within the School.
The School of Health Sciences introduced practicum package 
video tutorials to better serve students living at a distance or 
in more remote areas – students have reported that these 
have been invaluable to their learning. With more students 
requiring support via email and drop-in access for assistance, 
the School also implemented changes to provide faster 
response times to student inquiries.

The School of Education added a 0.5 FTE Advising and 
Recruiting Associate in 2017/2018. This position allowed the 
extension of needed student advising hours, and provided 
additional supports for Academic Upgrading students.
  
Other work completed by Schools to accommodate and be 
responsive to the various needs of learners include:

• Student advising hours were increased within the School 
of Education

• Regular targeted information sessions were held for both 
Education and Practical Nursing students

• Additional lab sections were added to increase Medical 
Laboratory Assistant cohorts and provide students with 
a greater opportunity for one-on-one assistance and 
oversight for more complex skill development

• A Math ‘Boot Camp’ was offered to Engineering Technology 
students prior to their first day of class

The Faculty Performance Committee (FPC) redesigned 
the Student Feedback Instrument (SFI) questions to 
incorporate learner-centred concepts and principles. Key 
areas of focus include Organization and Clarity, Expertise and 
Enthusiasm, Promotes Learning, Rapport (accessibility), and 
Assessment and Grading. These new measures will provide 
valuable feedback for Faculty to consider in the continuous 
improvement of teaching and learning. The new SFI questions 
will be piloted in the 2018/2019 academic year.

The Counselling and Career Centre intentionally focused on 
providing learners opportunities to connect with industry 
and apply their post-secondary educational experiences with 
on the job training, real world scenarios and Work-Integrated 
Learning initiatives including a Work-Integrated Learning pilot 
project proposal, Career Expo, and Backpacks to Briefcases.

In 2017/2018, RDC utilized Bloom’s Taxonomy of Learning to 
develop new Onboarding and Management Development 
programs for Faculty and Staff.  This approach involves the 
foundational progression of knowledge application in the 
following progressive steps: Remembering, Understanding, 
Applying, Analyzing, Evaluating, and Creating. These 
new programs are designed to provide learners with an 
opportunity to apply their learning through direct application 
including self-guided discovery and practice.

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P2: 

Program and course development and redevelopment 
continue with a focus on learner-centred principles and 
student needs.  For example, a wide variety of flexible program 
delivery options were made available to meet the needs of 
learners including evenings, weekends, online, fast-track, on-
site, off-site, and blended. Institutional support for this type 
of work, and tying learner-centred principles to program 
and course outcomes, was provided through the Centre of 
Teaching and Learning (CTL). Materials and resources were 
created in the CTL to support the development of courses and 
programs for online and blended delivery. These resources 
are used to guide the CTL and the faculty developer through 
backwards design for online delivery, development of the 
Blackboard courses, and course quality review. 

 

The CTL was also progressive in providing educational 
opportunities for Faculty that promote flexibility of programs 
and courses. In 2017-2018, 12 faculty members participated 
in the RDC Excellence in Online Teaching and Learning 
program. This program was designed to support best 
practices in teaching and learning for all program delivery 
models, including blended and face-to-face. The Excellence 
in Online Teaching and Learning program was redeveloped 
and made available as a collection of asynchronous modules 
with continuous entry and engagement with a Learning 
Designer. Over the last year the program was redesigned 
with an option for Faculty members to complete a certified 
project. An Introduction to Online Teaching and Learning 
intensive was also developed by the CTL for delivery 
online.  It will be offered for the first time in August 2018 for 
instructors who are teaching online courses in the fall term.  
 

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P2 
Develop a sustainable strategy to promote  
flexible delivery.

Status: 
Progress made

Expected Completion Date:  July 2018

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Accountability

EO1 
Greater accessibility to RDC programs, enhanced 
program delivery, and improved learner outcomes. 
Learners have  
an increasing number of options available to access 
courses and programs in the delivery model that best  
suits their needs.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019
 

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Accountability

PM1 
Increased number of credit and non-credit courses 
offering flexible delivery.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019
 

Percentage of Credit and Non-Credit Courses  
Offering Flexible Delivery

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

21.5% 19.8% 16.4%

RDC  |  GOAL 1 RDC WILL BUILD A LEARNER-CENTRED CULTURE
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This intensive will immerse faculty in the online environment 
and provide an experience to apply best practices in engaging 
students learning synchronously and asynchronously. 

During 2017/2018, the use of Clockwork case management 
software was explored to increase the efficacy of scheduling 
for accommodated exams in Testing Services. Work will 
continue in Fall 2018 to ensure the software will meet the 
scheduling needs of this service area. Based on progress 
made to date, it is anticipated that the software will be in use 
beginning in Winter 2019.

Advancement in online learning for most health care 
programs came from securing an Electronic Health Record 
(EHR) online learning subscription system and CompTracker 
for use by students, faculty, and preceptors. 

CompTracker allows students to access real-time performance 
feedback from their field experience supervisors and 
instructors. Implementation of the software and processes 
began in Spring 2018 with a go-live date of Fall 2018. 

RDC utilizes Respondus Lockdown Browser to support the 
use of online testing through Blackboard. This resulted in a 
decreased need for online students to access an exam proctor 
and for increased testing using Blackboard across the College.

The Donald School of Business researched the addition of  
a course that would recognize work experience as a self-study 
option. The result of this work lead to the identification of 
host sites that would be appropriate for students enrolled in  
the course. 

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P3 
Build the Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre/Centre 
des Jeux du Canada Gary W. Harris (the Canada Games 
Centre) with a learner-centred design that supports 
teaching, learning, and the student experience.

Status: 
Completed

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Accountability

EO1 
The building provides greater access to high quality  
post-secondary education in health sciences, 
kinesiology, and related programming.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019 

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Accountability

PM1 
High proportions of program completers who used the 
Canada Games Centre as part of their program report 
that the building design supports learning and the 
student experience.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019 

• Data for this measure will be available in the  
2018/19 Annual Report.

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

PM2 
High proportions of program completers who used 
the Canada Games Centre as part of their program are 
satisfied with the overall quality of their educational 
experience.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019
 

• Data for this measure will be available in the  
2018/19 Annual Report.

PM3 
High proportions of faculty and staff who work in 
the Canada Games Centre report that the building 
design supports teaching, learning, and the student 
experience.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Data for this measure will be available in the  
2018/19 Annual Report.

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P3: 

The new Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre was completed 
in June 2018. As one of the most iconic buildings in Alberta, 
it embodies the Seven Dimensions of Wellness and provides 
a bold statement about our commitment and support of 
athletics at RDC. The Seven Dimensions of Wellness include:

• Social Wellness

• Emotional Wellness

• Spiritual Wellness

• Environmental Wellness

• Occupational Wellness

• Intellectual Wellness

• Physical Wellness

Work continued in 2017/2018 by the Gary W. Harris Canada 
Games Centre Project Team, which included the Director of 
Teaching and Learning, to select furniture and classroom 
technologies that align with best practices in the design of 
learning spaces, RDC current learning space design practice, 
and newly established Classroom Technology Standards. 
Procurement of furniture, fixtures equipment, and technology 
for specialized including Arena, Gymnasium, Fitness Centre, 
Sport Performance Laboratory, Anatomy Laboratory, 
Movement Studio, and Athletic Therapy spaces were also 
completed. Learners in the Kinesiology and Sport Studies and 
Occupation and Physical Therapist Assistant programs will 
directly benefit through the use of the new Centre.

In 2017/2018, national attention was drawn to RDC, the City of 
Red Deer, and the Central Region with the Gary W. Harris Canada 
Games Centre slated as the host site of the Athlete’s Village for 
the upcoming 2019 Canada Winter Games. Media coverage 
on progress made towards completion of the Canada Games 
Centre, and the associated Shaping Our Future fundraising 
campaign elevated the College’s reputation; positioning it 
as a leader in sport, health and wellness, and environmental 
responsibility. The Canada Games Centre building will also 
serve as central Alberta’s legacy building for the 2019 Canada 
Winter Games. RDC Marketing & Communications produced a 
number of videos and regularly updated the website with key 
messaging and photography to inform our diverse audiences 
of construction progress, including the buildings unique 
attributes and planned programming that they will be able 
to access.

RDC  |  GOAL 1 RDC WILL BUILD A LEARNER-CENTRED CULTURE
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P4 
Information Technology Services (ITS) will promote 
a service culture that reflects improved and more 
responsive processes.

Status: 
Progress made

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Quality

EO1 
The focus on improved service culture and 
prioritization of activities enhances learning experiences.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Quality

EO2 
The adoption of service management tools and best 
practices provides improved and more responsive  
ITS processes.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Quality

PM1 
High level of first-call resolution rate for Help Desk 
services.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

* The industry norm is 70%. Continuous improvements 
have been made to first-call resolutions processes, and 
the rate is expected to exceed the industry norm in 
2018/2019.

PM2 
Reduced average time to resolve first-call Help Desk 
service requests.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

In 2017/2018, a configuration problem with the service 
management tool did not allow data to be collected for 
this measure, however work is proceeding to resolve 
the issue. 

Percentage of First-Call Resolution Rates for  
Help Desk Services*

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

62% N/A N/A

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

PM3  
High satisfaction levels of clients using Help Desk 
services.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

Percentage of Satisfied Help Desk Clients

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

94.2% N/A N/A

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P4: 

During 2017/2018, Information Technology Services (ITS) made 
advancements in service provision that enhanced teaching 
and learning and support for students, programs and service 
areas. Support was provided to the Office of the Registrar 
in the elimination of paper invoicing and receipts during 
registration processes by implementing E-communications 
for Continuing Education learners, the Centre for Teaching 
and Learning to ensure classroom technology readiness 
and outfitting spaces with new technology, the creation 
of in-house solutions for policy development at RDC, and 
improvement of internet functionality for the School of 
Health Sciences Practical Nursing program in Rocky Mountain 
House. In addition, four main projects were supported by ITS 
including:

A Digital Repository was implemented by the Library to 
manage, store, and make discoverable digital content. Content 
can include journal articles, e-learning objects, teaching 
materials, scholarly materials, as well as administrative data. 
This will comply with federal grant funding polices, allowing 
faculty to make their research publically available and increase 
visibility and prestige of the institution by making RDC 
scholarly activity accessible. 

An iCard Online Photo Submission system was implemented 
for Finance to allow students to submit photos online for 
creating iCards that replaces the need for students to have 
photos taken in person. This is one step in the longer term 
plan to integrate iCard in other functional areas of RDC such as 
security, access control, residence, Donald School of Business 
and the Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre.

The School of Health Sciences CompTracker system provides 
a flexible and customizable competency and evaluation 
content management system used for entering, tracking 
and managing practicum information. It enables students, 
instructors, and preceptors to replace paper tracking of 
students with mobile device entry. Implementation of the 
software and processes began in Spring 2018 with a go-live 
date of Fall 2018.

The School of Health Sciences Electronic Health Records 
system used in healthcare to simulate patient record, data 
and communications associated with health care providers. 
Digital literacy in health records is an expected learning 
outcome and a required graduate competency for students in 
the following programs: Bachelor of Science Nursing, Practical 
Nurse, Occupational and Physical Therapist Assistant, and 
Pharmacy Technician.

RDC  |  GOAL 1 RDC WILL BUILD A LEARNER-CENTRED CULTURE
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P5 
Align policies with the learner-centred paradigm.

Status: 
Progress made

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Quality
• Accountability

EO1 
Learner-centred principles are incorporated into 
RDC policies and thus embedded in institutional 
governance.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Quality
• Accountability

PM1 
Increased number of policies reflecting learner-centred 
principles.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

15 additional RDC policies reflected learner-centred 
principles in 2017/2018.

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P5: 

Students are consulted on policies that impact them directly 
and are often part of policy development working groups. 
This is standard practice with academic policies, but students 
were also involved in various stages of the development of 
non-academic policies such as RDC’s Research Involving 
Humans and Sexual Violence policies. Of the 22 (new or 
revised) policies Academic Council approved in 2017/2018, 15 
have direct relevance for RDC learners and were developed in 
such a way as to make them as clear and relevant as possible 
for those learners, incorporating learner-centred principles in 
their application.

The learner-centred principles of balance of power and 
function of content have had the most relevance for the policy 
development and restructuring activities that have taken 
place in 2017/2018. As a learning organization RDC considers 
its learners to include the entire College community, despite 
the precedence that it clearly affords students as learners. 
RDC’s policy development process involves as many relevant 
stakeholders as possible, either in development committees 
or focus groups or through broad consultation. 

The RDC department of Strategic Planning and Analysis 
reviewed the existing policy structure and determined a 
more streamlined approach was necessary. Progress was 
made by removing procedural detail from policies so that 
the information contained in them was more accessible 
and understandable by learners, faculty, staff, and other 
stakeholders. The new policy approval processes provide a 
more streamlined approach that will correspond with RDC’s 
transition to university status and associated governance 
changes. A roll-out of the various elements of this new 
approach will take place between July 2018 and January 2019. 
As new policies are developed and existing policies revised, 
they will be incorporated into the new structure. A review of 
all existing policies is planned over the next two years with the 
dual purpose of bringing all policies within the same structure 
and rescinding policies which no longer serve institutional 
purposes.

GOAL 2
RDC WILL INCREASE 

THE PARTICIPATION OF 
INDIGENOUS LEARNERS 

AND UNDERREPRESENTED 
GROUPS THROUGH 

INCREASED ENGAGEMENT 
AND SUPPORT.

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P1 
Implement an Indigenous Education Strategic Plan. 

Status: 
Completed

Expected Completion Date:  Fall 2017

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

EO1 
Improved access and support for Indigenous learners.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018
 

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

EO2 
Integration of Indigenous knowledge, culture, health, 
and wellness into program curricula.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018
 

• Accessibility
• Quality

RDC  |  GOAL 1 RDC  |  GOAL 2
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RDC  |  GOAL 2 RDC WILL INCREASE THE PARTICIPATION OF INDIGENOUS LEARNERS AND 
UNDERREPRESENTED GROUPS THROUGH INCREASED ENGAGEMENT AND SUPPORT

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

EO3 
Enhanced relationships between RDC and Indigenous 
communities in the Central Region, and with external 
services and organizations, to better meet the needs of 
Indigenous students.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

PM1 
Increased number of Indigenous students.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P1: 

Progress on Priority Initiative P1: The culmination of work that 
began in 2016 resulted in the completion of the RDC Indigenous 
Education Strategic Plan (IESP) on March 14, 2018. The plan 
was informed in consultation with Indigenous communities 
and learners, Elders, RDC students, faculty and staff, and other 
stakeholders from across the Central Region. The plan identifies 
5 Strategic Themes and includes a total of 29 specific Goals. 

In addition to the development of the IESP, RDC engaged in 
the following initiatives to improve access and support for 
Indigenous Learners:*

• RDC’s Indigenous Student Services collaborated with 
external partners Urban Aboriginal Voices Society, O’Chiese 
First Nation, Ermineskin Cree Nation and Louis Bull Tribe 
on events such as New Student Orientation, Indigenous 
Student Welcome, RDC Open House, numerous college 
tours, career fairs, and National Indigenous Peoples Day. 

• Faculty and staff looked for opportunities to connect 
with the Indigenous population by serving on the First 
Nations, Metis, Inuit (FNMI) Advisory Council for central 
Alberta Regional Consortium (CARC), attending pow-wow 
celebrations for National Indigenous Peoples Day, and 
connecting with central Alberta Indigenous community 
leaders to explore future implementation of alternative 
program delivery options that best meet their needs and 
interests.

• Faculty and Staff in the School of Education hosted the 
2nd Indigenous Perspectives Conference 2018 with a focus 
on developing and appreciating Indigenous perspectives 
through literacy, literature, and the arts. The conference 
included the development of a Teacher Resource List.

• Marketing and Communications collaborated with 
Indigenous Student Services to develop brand standards 
for usage of a previously-created Indigenous graphic.

• For new programs developed at RDC, one of the 
considerations made is how program and course 
outcomes reflect indigenous perspectives. Each program 
developed and submitted to Advanced Education 
in 2017/2018 included learning outcomes related to 
indigenous perspectives. In many cases indigenous topics 
are threaded throughout program curriculum. English 
courses are studying more texts by Indigenous authors. 
This includes a broadened definition in order to incorporate 
oral storytelling, film, song, and performance poetry. The 
Bachelor of Science Nursing program integrates core 
competencies for cultural competence and cultural safety: 
post-colonial understanding, communication, inclusivity, 
respect, indigenous knowledge, in addition to mentoring 
and supporting students for success.

NEW AND EXISTING RDC COURSES CONTAINING 
INDIGENOUS CONTENT 

 - INDS 205 – Indigenous Peoples in Canada

 - JUST 200 – The Justice System and  
Indigenous Canadians 

 - SOWK 214 – Reconciliation Through Social Work

 - EDFX 203 - Education Field Experience (two Indigenous 
Education sections were integrated into this course) 

PROGRAM SEATS RESERVED FOR QUALIFIED 
INDIGENOUS APPLICANTS: 

 - Practical Nursing – 6 seats

 - Bachelor of Science, Nursing – 4 seats

 - Justice Studies – 4 seats

The CTL worked with Indigenous Student Services and 
program areas developing and redeveloping curriculum to 
identify the integration of indigenous topics and perspectives 
in new and renewed programs.  In many cases indigenous 
perspectives are now threaded throughout curriculum or 
incorporated into new courses focused on the indigenous 
experience, such as Justice 205.

The School of Trades and Technologies supported the 
School of Continuing Education in offering a 12-week, Pre-
Employment Automotive Service Technician program for 
six students of the Rupertsland Institute Metis Centre of 

Excellence. 15 per cent of Pre-Employment students were 
from underrepresented groups, including Indigenous  
students.

The Flexible Innovative Apprenticeship Technical Training 
(FIATT ) program incorporated Indigenous knowledge, 
wellness and cultural components led by Elders and Band 
officials.

School of Continuing Education supported the completion 
of the two year FIATT funded welding program with Montana 
First Nation. The program provided the opportunity for 50 
Indigenous students to complete all theory components and 
to participate in a work placement.

The School of Continuing Education has expanded their 
programming for Indigenous communities including applying 
for funding to support digital literacy programs for First 
Nations as well as partnering with six other post-secondary 
institutions to provide trades test banks.

The CTL worked with Indigenous Students Services and 
Student Life to promote Orange Shirt Days, and the June 
Quiet Book Club is reading In Search of April Raintree by 
Beatrice Mosioner.

*  For more information on initiatives involving Indigenization,  
refer to pages 27 and 73 in this document.

Total Number of Indigenous Students

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

317 308 284
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P2 
Implement a Diversity and Inclusion Plan.

Status: 
Progress made

Expected Completion Date:  Fall 2017

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Accountability

EO1 
Strengthen RDC’s ability to provide an inclusive, 
welcoming learning environment for all students 
including those facing challenges accessing post-
secondary education.

Expected Completion Date:  Fall 2017

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Accountability

EO2 
Expand RDC’s capacity to integrate cultural 
engagement and social and ethnic diversity  
into curricula.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Quality

EO3 
Greater number of credit programs and courses 
contain learning outcomes related to diversity.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Quality

PM1 
Increased % of program completers who report  
having opportunities to experience cultural  
awareness in their programs.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

*  Work continues at RDC to include aspects of cultural 
awareness in all course and program development 
and redevelopment. Statistically the difference of 2.1% 
compared to the previous year is negligible.

RDC  |  GOAL 2 RDC WILL INCREASE THE PARTICIPATION OF INDIGENOUS LEARNERS AND 
UNDERREPRESENTED GROUPS THROUGH INCREASED ENGAGEMENT AND SUPPORT

Percentage of Program Completers who  
Report Opportunities for Cultural Awareness

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

66.8%* 68.9% 68.9%

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

PM2 
High level of student satisfaction with services received 
from Disability Resources.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

PM3 
High level of agreement by program completers that 
RDC provides good access to learning for people with 
diverse needs.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

Percentage of Students who Report Satisfaction  
with Services used from Disability Resources

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

97.4% N/A N/A

Percentage of Program Completers who Agree that  
RDC Provides Good Access to Learning for  

People with Diverse Needs

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

97.4% 97.5% 97.8%

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P2: 

During 2017/2018, the diversity and inclusion working group 
continued to support the efforts of Schools, departments, 
and divisions to provide an inclusive and welcoming learning 
environment (including those facing challenges accessing 
post-secondary education). The Learning Information 
Common (LIC) has established an Inclusion Team which is 
focusing on inclusivity for LGBTQ and visible minorities. This is 
in addition to continued partnership with Parents and Friends 
of Lesbians and Gays (PFLAG) and participation in central 
Alberta Pride Week. In order to validate RDC’s efforts toward 
student engagement, a survey instrument was developed 
in the LIC and used to conduct interviews with LGBTQ and 
visible minorities in Winter 2018.

On April 13, 2018, Red Deer College received Inclusion 
Alberta’s Community Inclusion Award. The award recognizes 
RDC’s commitment to including students with developmental 
disabilities to pursue higher education through the supports 
of Inclusive Post-Secondary Education. Each year, four 
students with developmental disabilities are supported at 
RDC through the Inclusive Post-Secondary initiative. The 
students are enrolled in a range of different programs, and 
they are actively involved in RDC’s student life activities on 
and off campus. In addition, the students work for employers 
across central Alberta, including Red Deer College. Students 
are encouraged to take ownership of their experiences, 
helping to create a solid foundation and a clear focus for their 
futures once they complete their College careers. 

The initiative also raises awareness about inclusion on RDC’s 
campuses, and it increases the College’s capacity to naturally 
support and include students with developmental disabilities. 

In addition to developing a Diversity and Inclusion Plan,  
RDC engaged in the following initiatives to enhance inclusivity 
and diversity:

• The Centre for Teaching and Learning (CTL) worked with 
the School of Continuing Education on the development of 
the Trauma Informed Instructor program for those teaching 
English as a Second Language (ESL).

• Universal Design for Learning principles are now embedded 
in the design process for online courses and discussed as 
part of the Excellence in Online Teaching and Learning 
program.  Universal Design for Learning resources have 
been renewed within the CTL website.

• In all new programs developed in 2017/2018, diversity and 
cultural sensitivity was a common thread in the curriculum. 
New courses were thoughtfully developed to reflect 
the cultural climate of Alberta, and Canada. Specifically 
the health and justice related courses, are reflective of 
Indigenous history and reconciliation, as well as focus on 
new Canadians. 

• RDC worked with Inclusion Alberta over the 2017-2018 
to pilot the development of meaningful employment 
opportunities for adults with developmental disabilities.  
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• Faculty within the School of Education worked with 
Transitional Vocational Program (TVP) students to provide 
opportunities for taking courses outside of the program at 
RDC. As a result, TVP alumni students have registered for 
Academic Upgrading courses and also a Pre-Employment 
Trades program.

• First Year students in the Bachelor of Science Nursing 
program participated in Blanket Exercise in partnership 
with the Native Friendship Society.

• Clinical placements for Bachelor of Science Nursing 
students in Reservation Schools with Mental Health 
workers; placements via Health Canada in Sunchild and 
O’Chiese sites working with Public Health and Home Care.

• Universal Design principles were addressed through the 
design completion and signage development for the Gary 
W. Harris Canada Games Centre.

• The Residence project incorporates universal design 
principles, including the incorporation of suites for students 
with physical disabilities.

• The Alternative Energy Lab will include an elevator to 
allow students with physical disabilities to access the lab 
environment on the roof of the building.

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P3 
Increase access to post-secondary education for 
learners in the region.

Status: 
Progress made

Expected Completion Date:  Fall 2017

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Coordination
• Accountability

EO1 
Central Region learners have enhanced learning 
opportunities within their communities through the 
RDC partnership with Olds College in the Campus 
Alberta Central (CAC) regional stewardship initiative.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Coordination
• Accountability

PM1 
Increased number of learners from the Central Region 
in CAC programming.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Number of FLE Learners

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

134 FLE
(347 students)

159 FLE
(# N/A)

89 FLE
(# N/A)

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

PM2 
Increased number of CAC learning sites and programs.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

Number of CAC Learning Sites

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

24 22 21

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P3: 

Campus Alberta Central* (CAC) is a joint venture between 
Olds College and RDC which fulfills regional stewardship by 
providing educational opportunities to rural communities 
in the Central Region. The work of CAC includes increasing 
access to post-secondary programs and courses and 
supporting the work of the Community Adult Learning 
Programs (CALPs).

CAC has partnership agreements with every CALP in the 
region and supports their work through resources and 
training. This includes a partnership with the Rocky Native 
Friendship Centre, which provides outreach to three 
Indigenous communities in the region**. The CAC learning 
centre in Rocky Mountain House provides facilities for 
training of local Indigenous communities. In Spring of 2018, 
CAC signed an agreement with the Ponoka/Rimbey Adult 
Learning Society to extend the learning centre model to the 
community of Ponoka and area.

Design of the CAC learning space at the Ponoka Community 
Learning Centre in conjunction with the Ponoka Adult 
Learning Council was completed along with required 
furniture, equipment, and technology. This facility is complete 
and will open in Fall 2018.

A selection of online programming was promoted and offered 
to students through RDC and CAC in 2017/2018 including:

 - Administrative Professional Certificate (Online)

 - Management Certificate (Online)

 - Business Administration Diploma (Online)

 - Educational Assistant Certificate (Online)

 - Early Learning and Child Care Certificate and Diploma 
(Online) 

 - Health Care Aide Certificate (Drumheller)

 - Practical Nurse Diploma  
(Stettler and Rocky Mountain House)

Following consultation between the School of Trades and 
Technologies and the regional School Division partners on 
the delivery model of the School Within a College (SWAC) 
program, it was adjusted to better facilitate students 
completing their high school Career and Technology Skills 
credits at RDC over one semester instead of two. 

The Health Care Aide was delivered in Drumheller through 
the RDC School of Continuing Education. The program utilized a 
blended delivery model for the first time through RDC.

The School of Continuing Education also offered professional 
development opportunities in Ponoka, Stettler, Hanna, Rocky 
and Drumheller including – computer training, Management 
Skills for Supervisors, and Non-Profit Management. 

Marketing & Communications continued to work with CAC 
to manage all of their marketing and communications needs. 
The commitment of additional resources to this effort resulted 
in consistent branding and messaging, and an enhanced 
presentation of CAC collateral materials and media relations 
throughout the Central Region.

*    For more information on CAC initiatives in collaborating with 
CALPs to respond to regional foundational needs, refer to 
pages 72-73 in this document. 

**  For more information on initiatives involving Indigenization, 
refer to pages 21-23 and page 73 in this document.
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P4 
Foster an environment of wellness, safety, and  
mental health.

Status: 
Progress made

Expected Completion Date:  June 2018

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

EO1 
RDC students, faculty, and staff learn and work in 
environments that promote safety and wellness over 
the short and long term.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

EO2 
Adoption of a policy and training opportunities that 
encourage a coordinated and consistent response to 
sexual violence.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

PM1 
Sustained number of participants in the Campus 
Connections program (mental health literacy program).

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

*  The reduced number in 2017/2018 was the result of 
a gap in service delivery due to time required to fill a 
vacant position in the Counselling and Career Centre. 

PM2 
High levels of satisfaction of students, faculty, and staff 
using RDC services that address mental health needs.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

Number of Participants in  
Campus Connections Program

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

254* 276 N/A

Percentage of Students, Faculty, and Staff Satisfied  
with RDC Mental Health Services

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

83.8% N/A N/A

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P4: 

In 2017/2018 a new Sexual Violence policy and guidebook 
was implemented at RDC (effective on January 1, 2018). This 
policy was created in response to the ministerial requirement 
for post-secondary institutions to develop such a policy. 
RDC health, safety, and security professionals developed 
sexual violence risk assessment and management skills and 
protocols to conduct administrative investigations into sexual 
violence offenses to resolve complaints effectively, mitigate 
risk, support the rights of all students and employees and to 
provide a safe and non-discriminatory environment. 

The new Sexual Violence policy lays the foundation for the 
development of awareness and education initiatives, as well 
as improves RDC’s ability to better respond to disclosures 
of sexual violence moving forward. To this end, RDC offered 
Sexual Violence Disclosure training to ensure individuals 
at RDC felt prepared to support affected individuals in a 
respectful and supportive manner.

The Counselling team at RDC facilitated the delivery of 
over 2200 counselling sessions in 2017/2018. The services 
provided by the team include scheduled and drop-in sessions 
for students, faculty, and staff. The top presenting concerns 
included mental health symptoms, developmental transitions, 
relationship concerns, and academic performance.

Special events such as Mental Health Matters were of 
particular importance to program development in 2017/2018. 
Over 70 students took part in Mental Health First Aid Training 
and mental health focused workshops and programming.

In the LIC, over half of the staff (full- and part-time) have taken 
Mental Health First Aid training and all of the Makerspace 
Technicians have taken First Aid training. The integration of 
coping and resilience into courses was piloted this year at the 
Donald School of Business starting with The Administrative 
Professional Certificate and Unit Clerk programs with the 
intent to assist students in becoming better prepared for 
coping with stress and test anxiety.

The School of Trades and Technologies has completed all 
hazard assessments for equipment in the shops. The School 
has also completed many of the hazard assessments for 
employee roles.

The Health, Safety, and Wellness Centre worked with 
the Employee Wellness Working Group engaged a wide 
representation from across the campus to increase awareness 
and promote all of the dimensions of wellness.

RDC  |  GOAL 2 RDC WILL INCREASE THE PARTICIPATION OF INDIGENOUS LEARNERS AND 
UNDERREPRESENTED GROUPS THROUGH INCREASED ENGAGEMENT AND SUPPORT
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P1 
Implement robust new program and service review 
processes to ensure high quality programs and  
learning experiences.

Status: 
Progress made

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

EO1 
Establishment of a culture that ensures learners receive the 
highest possible quality educational experience through 
continual program and service improvement processes.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018
 

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

EO2 
Learners are provided with high quality, practical 
educational experiences. 

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018
 

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

GOAL 3
RDC WILL BE KNOWN FOR 
ACADEMIC EXCELLENCE 

AND PRACTICAL, ENRICHING 
LEARNING EXPERIENCES  

FOR STUDENTS.

RDC  |  GOAL 3 RDC WILL BE KNOWN FOR ACADEMIC EXCELLENCE AND PRACTICAL, ENRICHING LEARNING EXPERIENCES FOR STUDENTS

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

PM1 
Increased number of programs and services that 
complete a program or service review.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

*   Due to the comprehensive nature of the new review 
processes, extensions have been provided to program 
and service areas for completion in 2018/2019.

PM2 
High level of program completer satisfaction with the 
overall quality of their educational experience.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

PM3 
High level of program completer satisfaction  
with the quality of their practical/experiential  
learning experience.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

Program Areas Participating in a Review

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

6* N/A N/A

Service Areas Participating in a Review

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

4* N/A N/A

Percentage of Program Completers Satisfied with the 
Overall Quality of Their Educational Experience at RDC

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

96.3% 95.8% 96.8%

Percentage of Program Completers Satisfied  
with the Quality of their Practical/Experiential  

Learning Experiences at RDC

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

91.1% 90.8% 92.3%

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P1: 

In 2016, RDC established two separate committees that 
oversaw program and service review in relation to the 
new Program Review policy and the new Service Review 
policy. The Annual Program Improvement Process (APIP) 
provides the means for more regular review and continuous 
improvement of programs, whereas the Quality Improvement 
Program Review (QIPR) is more comprehensive, includes a 
self-study, external review, and is completed less frequently. 
Services at RDC undergo similar annual and then the more 
comprehensive review process identified as the Annual Service 
Improvement Process (ASIP) and the Quality Improvement of 
Services Review (QISR). 

Beyond the requirements outlined in the Program and Service 
Review policies, continuous improvement of program and 
service areas in 2017/2018 took many forms including:

• Faculty development initiatives within the School of Health 
Sciences to ensure quality simulation learning experiences 
for students, including practicum placements and 
laboratory experiences. 

• Professional development for faculty in the School of 
Trades and Technologies in order to remain current with 
new practices and industry standards.  For example, all 
Apprentice Electrician instructors completed an update 
course on the new 2018 Canadian Electrical Code.  
Additionally, Engineering Technology Faculty and technical 
support staff received factory training on specialized 
laboratory equipment and robots.
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• Learning Designers from the Centre for Teaching and 
Learning (CTL) worked with faculty and staff to ensure 
curriculum development and renewal address learning 
outcomes, accountability, and learner-centred principles. In 
2017/2018, Learning Designers work in the following areas 
on program  and curriculum development, renewal, and 
review:

New Program Development
 - Bachelor of Applied Arts in Animation and Visual Effects

 - Bachelor of Applied Arts in Film, Theatre, and Live 
Entertainment

 - Pre-Health Certificate

 - Human Resources Graduate Certificate

 - Health Care Management Post-Diploma Certificate

 - Health Care Aide Certificate

 - Trauma Informed Instructor Certificate

 - Justice Studies Diploma

 - eLearning Instructor Post-Diploma Certificate

 - Adult and Higher Education Post-Diploma Certificate

 - Kinesiology Degree Investigation

 - Communicative Disorders Program Investigation

 - Entrepreneurship Program Investigation

• Curriculum Renewal

 - Bachelor of Science Nursing

RDC  |  GOAL 3 RDC WILL BE KNOWN FOR ACADEMIC EXCELLENCE AND PRACTICAL, ENRICHING LEARNING EXPERIENCES FOR STUDENTS

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P2 
Implement a Research Strategic Plan.

Status: 
Progress made

Expected Completion Date:  June 2018

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality

EO1 
Greater access and support are provided for research 
and innovation activities that provide practical 
solutions to economic and social issues and 
environmental and technological challenges.  

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality

EO2 
The Centre for Innovation in Manufacturing (CIM) 
serves as a manufacturing hub of innovation activity 
in Alberta, linking industries with institutions and 
contributing to the development of key capacities in 
design, design engineering, fabrication, testing, and 
prototyping.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

EO3
Businesses are supported in commercialization thus 
leading to increased economic competitiveness and 
diversity in the region.  

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility

EO4 
Institutional support is provided to facilitate faculty 
scholarly activity, student research, and community-
based applied research.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

PM1 
Increased number of learners engaged in applied 
research and innovation activities.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

*  The reduced number was due to fewer Technicians 
being available for work.

PM2 
Increased number of faculty and staff engaged in 
applied research and innovation activities. 

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

*  The reduction in 2017-18 reflected a change in 
organizational structure which relocated operations in 
other functional units.

PM3 
Increased number of projects supported by the  
CIM’s initiatives. 

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

*  The reduced number was due to fewer Technicians 
being available for work.

Total Number of Learners Engaged in  
Applied Research and Innovation Activities

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

32* 55 31

Total Number of Learners Engaged in  
Applied Research and Innovation Activities

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

5* 38 28

Total Number of Faculty and Staff Engaged in  
Applied Research and Innovation Activities

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

3* 3.5 2.5
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Total Number of Learners and Faculty  
Supported by the Research Common

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

145 57 N/A

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P2: 

With the Premier’s announcement of RDC becoming a degree-
granting institution in March 2018, the research direction 
for RDC has changed slightly.  As a result, the Associate Vice 
President Research and Student Affairs drafted a new Strategic 
Research Plan in June 2018. 

In addition to direct support to learners and faculty, the 
Research Common reached a large number of people 
through multiple workshops (5 workshops to 31 people), co-
sponsored a professional development event on indigenizing 
curriculum and research (59 attendees), and hosted a number 
of meetings over the year to connect researchers with the 
Canada Winter Games staff regarding projects.

The Health Research Collaborative took on 7 projects, 
involving 4 faculty, 8 students, and 14 external participants 
and engaging 7 rural communities. The activities of the 
Health Research Collaborative have had considerable impact 
on improving developmental assets in elementary and 
middle school-aged children within Red Deer, understanding 
community views and opinions regarding poverty in Red 
Deer, and on the service provided by health care professionals 
to individuals with dementia. 

During 2017-18, the CIM provided support to new initiatives 
directed at clean technology, climate change, and training 
for women in international business. Furthermore, the CIM 
supported the prototype development, testing, and scale-up 
of a unique wind turbine design.

CIM received $148,750 in funding from Alberta Innovates 
through the Regional Innovation Network to mitigate the cost 
of materials and delivery of services; and $38,240 in voucher 
funding to support Azera’s healthy housing project. The 
Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada 
continued to support the work toward the “Participatory 
Assessment of Programs and Services for Immigrant Women 
in Central Alberta” and also the project “Applying OCAP® to 
College Research in Central Alberta.”

The Donald School of Business involved both faculty 
and students in a Games Impact Study to explore the  
economic, societal, and community impact of the 2019 
Canada Winter Games. 

Engineering Technology students completed 10 Capstone 
projects for various community and industry organizations 
in our region. These projects were designed to provide 
solutions for business processes, entrepreneurial concepts, or 
community interests.

Reduced workload norms facilitate time for faculty to invest in 
scholarly research including: 

• Publishing book chapters

• Collaborative community research submitted for 
publication

• Adjudicating research presentations

• Peer reviewing conference proposals and scholarly work  
for publication 

• Keynote addresses for scholarly conferences

• Attending scholarly conferences

• Participating in additional course work

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P3 
Foster the sustainability of Makerspace and connect  
it with programs, learning activities, and central  
Alberta communities.

Status: 
Achieved

Expected Completion Date:  June 2018

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality

EO1 
The provision of space and resources for innovation, 
practical learning, and creativity for learners, the 
College, and central Alberta communities.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability

EO2 
The skills and knowledge fostered by Makerspace will 
enable users to carry on to more advanced forums 
such as RDC’s CIM.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility

EO3 
Users will be empowered to apply their  
competencies to the labour market and the  
broader creative community.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Quality

PM1 
Increased number of Makerspace users.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

Total Number of Makerspace Users

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

2296 653 N/A

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

PM4 
Increased number of learners and faculty supported  
by the Research Common.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018
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Total Number of RDC Programs that Link  
Learning Activities with Makerspace

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

12 8 N/A

Percentage of Students Satisfied with their  
Overall Experience using Makerspace

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

97.0% N/A N/A

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P3: 

In January, 2017 RDC received funding from the Government 
of Canada’s Post-Secondary Institutions Strategic Investment 
Fund. (SIF) to support construction of a permanent facility for 
the Makerspace on the second floor of the Library Information 
Common. The facility renovation was completed and 
opened on September 5, 2017. The Makerspace provides an 
innovative area for students, faculty, staff, and the community 
that accommodates, research, design, and prototyping 

of products and materials. Many conferences, events, and 
corporate events included tours of the Makerspace area and 
helped connect the community to the space. In 2017/2018, 
47 tours comprised of 411 tour participants were hosted in 
the Makerspace. Furthermore, the new Can-Code curriculum 
takes advantage of the Makerspace and provided a coding 
experience for approximately 5000 students through the 
School of Continuing Education.

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

PM2 
Increased number of RDC programs that link learning 
activities with Makerspace.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

PM3 
High level of student satisfaction with their overall 
experience using Makerspace.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P4 
Development of the Alternative Energy Laboratory (AEL).

Status: 
Achieved

Expected Completion Date:  June 2018

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

EO1 
RDC’s commitment to the growth of sustainable 
energy in the region is confirmed and supported 
through the development of the AEL. 

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Accountability

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

EO2 
Greater opportunities are provided to explore and 
develop programming, applied research, and external 
connections related to alternative energy.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Accountability

EO3 
Greater opportunities for students to acquire practical 
skills related to alternative energy technologies and for 
businesses and industry to use the applied research in 
support of alternative energy solutions. 

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Accountability

PM1 
Number of learners engaged in projects associated 
with the AEL.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

With construction of the AEL concluding in Spring 
2018, this data is not available for the 2017/2018  
Annual Report.

PM2 
Number of businesses assisted in working toward the 
adoption of alternative energy technologies.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

With construction of the AEL concluding in Spring 
2018, this data is not available for the 2017/2018  
Annual Report.

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P1: 

In the Spring of 2018, RDC continued to make significant 
progress on environmental stewardship through the 
successful completion of the Alternative Energy Lab (AEL). 
This initiative was achieved, in part, by the Government of 
Canada’s Post-Secondary Institutions Strategic Investment 
Fund. This new facility will be used for education, innovation, 
applied research, and demonstration in areas of sustainable, 
renewable, and energy efficient technologies. Users of the 
AEL will include students, faculty, staff, community members, 
and central Alberta companies.

Purchasing processes for training equipment and resources 
for the AEL began in 2017/2018. Training equipment and 
associated materials focusing on solar photovoltaics, solar 
thermal, small scale wind, and combined heat and power are 
in place.

The School of Continuing Education collaborated with 
the School of Trades and Technology to seek out new 
programming for the AEL. Planning for a future conference in 
partnership with Re-Think Red Deer also occurred.
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P5 
Complete the transition of academic programming to 
the Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre/Centre des 
Jeux du Canada Gary W. Harris .

Status: 
Achieved

Expected Completion Date:  September 2018

• Accessibility
• Quality

EO1 
Greater opportunities to expand and improve 
educational, health, wellness, and sport programming. 

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

EO2 
The Canada Games Centre becomes a regional 
focal point for educational, health, wellness, and 
sport programming, for community access to such 
programming in state-of-the-art facilities, and for 
hosting major provincial and national events.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

EO3 
The Canada Games Centre and the associated new 
Student Residences/Athletes’ Housing allow RDC to 
provide a wider range of credit/non-credit, contract 
training, and summer series programming resulting in 
greater institutional sustainability.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

EO4 
The Canada Games Centre allows RDC to advance 
the reputation and brand of the College among the 
communities it serves.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

PM1 
Number of credit and non-credit programs that involve 
use of the Canada Games Centre.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

With construction of the Gary W. Harris Canada Games 
Centre concluding in June 2018, this data is not available 
for the 2017/2018 Annual Report.

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P5: 

The Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre (GWHCGC) was 
completed in June 2018 and the transition of relevant courses 
from main campus to learning spaces at the GWHCGC was 
also completed in time for the beginning of the 2018/2019 
academic year. Programs that will benefit directly through the 
use of the new Centre include Kinesiology and Sport Studies 
and Occupation and Physical Therapist Assistant. A College 
task force was established with Hockey Alberta facilitate 
initiatives in developing student practicum experiences and 
community service opportunities, to build further on our 
formal Partnership Charter. Opportunities for faculty and staff 
from both organizations to collaborate will also be identified. 
Plans were also established for the School of Health Sciences 
to work with the Fitness Centre Coordinator and identify 
student learning opportunities.

In January 2018, the School of Health Sciences participated 
in Collaborative Rehabilitation Design workshops with 
Alberta Health Services to discuss their Cardiac Rehabilitation 
program and services available in central Alberta. Marketing 
& Communications collaborated with Ancillary and Sport 
Services to craft a Marketing & Communications Plan to 
promote the GWHCGC and advance RDC’s reputation and 
brand.

In 2017/2018, RDC was approved to start construction on the 
new 145 bed residence. The new residence will allow RDC to 
provide a wider range of credit and non-credit programming 
to more students resulting increased revenues and greater 
institutional sustainability. The residence project was tendered 
using an Integrated Project Delivery (IPD) model that resulted 
in one of the most unique residences in Canada and will be 
the first in in the nation with an integrated solar wall design 
on three sides of the building. The first occupants of the new 
residence will be athletes for the 2019 Canada Winter Games.

RDC  |  GOAL 3 RDC WILL BE KNOWN FOR ACADEMIC EXCELLENCE AND PRACTICAL, ENRICHING LEARNING EXPERIENCES FOR STUDENTS
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P1 
Implement a college-wide Program Mix Plan.  

Status: 
Completed

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Coordination
• Accountability

EO1 
RDC responds appropriately to regional education and 
training needs of learners and the labour market.  

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018
 

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Coordination
• Accountability

EO2 
Six new programs are offered between Fall 2017 and  
Fall 2020: three diplomas, two applied degrees, and  
one graduate certificate.

Expected Completion Date:  Fall 2017 

• Accessibility
• Coordination
• Accountability

GOAL 4
RDC WILL ASSERT 
ITS COMMITMENT 

TO COMPREHENSIVE 
PROGRAMMING: 

ACADEMIC UPGRADING, 
APPRENTICESHIP, 

CERTIFICATES, DIPLOMAS, 
UNIVERSITY TRANSFER, 

CONTINUING EDUCATION, 
AND DEGREES AS REQUIRED 

BY THE CENTRAL REGION.

RDC  |  GOAL 4 RDC WILL ASSERT ITS COMMITMENT TO COMPREHENSIVE PROGRAMMING: ACADEMIC UPGRADING, APPRENTICESHIP, CERTIFICATES, 
DIPLOMAS, UNIVERSITY TRANSFER, CONTINUING EDUCATION, AND DEGREES AS REQUIRED BY THE CENTRAL REGION

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

EO3 
RDC programs remain current and relevant. 

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Quality
• Accountability

EO4 
RDC program completers are adequately prepared  
to progress in their chosen career path or pursue 
further studies.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Quality
• Accountability

PM1 
New or redeveloped programs are introduced annually 
to the comprehensive mix of programs at RDC.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

PM2 
High level of employer satisfaction with RDC graduates’ 
knowledge and skills. 

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

PM3 
High level of graduate satisfaction with workforce 
knowledge and skills received in their program.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

PM4 
High level of university transfer program completer 
satisfaction with knowledge and skills received in 
program to continue their post-secondary education. 

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

Number of New or Redeveloped Programs 

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

11 9 8

Percentage of Employer Satisfaction with  
RDC Graduates’ Knowledge and Skills

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

95.7% 96.8% N/A

Percentage of Graduates Satisfied with  
Workforce Knowledge and Skills 

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

85.1% 83.4% 84.6%

Percentage of Satisfied University Transfer  
Program Completers 

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

82.4% 82.6% 85.2%
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PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P1: 

In 2017/2018, RDC continued to implement the Program Mix 
Plan. The plan provides the basis for program development 
over a 5 year period and continues in coordination with RDC’s 
University transition. In 2017/2018, RDC collected information 
on regional education and training needs by conducting two 
separate studies including a survey of high schools students 
and a survey of RDC graduate employers. The results from 
these studies were used to inform program mix decisions 
at RDC. 

In 2017/2018 several program development projects occurred 
with the following programs having received Ministry 
approval to be offered at RDC beginning in 2018/2019 (7 new 
programs):

• Justice Studies Diploma 

• Bachelor of Applied Arts, Animation and Visual Effects, 

• Health Care Management Post Diploma Certificate

• Pre-Health Certificate

• eLearning Instructor Post-Diploma Certificate

• Adult and Higher Education Instructor Post-Diploma 
Certificate

• The Bachelor of Science Psychology  
(Collaboration with University of Calgary)

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P2 
Increase access to degree programs that meet  
regional education and training needs of learners  
and the labour market and that align with  
system-wide offerings.

Status: 
Progress made

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Coordination 
• Accountability

EO1 
Increased number of post-secondary learners within 
the Central Region and system-wide. 

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Coordination 
• Accountability

EO2 
Improved affordability and access to post-secondary 
education opportunities within the region.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability 
• Accountability

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

EO3 
Greater regional economic development by addressing 
labour market demand for higher levels of post-
secondary education.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Accountability

EO3 
Improved regional social, cultural, and  
economic development.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility

PM1 
Increased number of degree programs available.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

*  New degree programs available in 2018/2019 include 
Bachelor of Applied Arts in Animation and Visual Effects 
and Bachelor of Science in Psychology (collaboration 
degree with University of Calgary) bringing the total 
number of available programs to 8.

PM2 
Increased number of students in degree programs.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

PM3 
Increased regional post-secondary participation rate.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

*  Reduced percentage is  due to the decl ine in 
Apprenticeship students.

Number of Degree Programs Available*

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

6 6 6

Percentage of Regional Post-Secondary  
Participation Rate

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

4.4%* 4.9% 5.0%

Percentage of Graduates Satisfied with  
Workforce Knowledge and Skills 

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

85.1% 83.4% 84.6%

RDC  |  GOAL 4 RDC WILL ASSERT ITS COMMITMENT TO COMPREHENSIVE PROGRAMMING: ACADEMIC UPGRADING, APPRENTICESHIP, CERTIFICATES, 
DIPLOMAS, UNIVERSITY TRANSFER, CONTINUING EDUCATION, AND DEGREES AS REQUIRED BY THE CENTRAL REGION



44  |  RED DEER COLLEGE 2017/2018 ANNUAL REPORT   |   45

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P2: 

In Spring 2018, RDC received approval from the Ministry to offer 
its own degrees. This decision will ultimately provide learners 
from the Central Region with unprecedented access to degree 
programs and will serve to increase the participate rate of 
learners from the Central Region. 

 

In 2017/2018, RDC received approval to offer the Bachelor of 
Applied Arts in Animation and Visual Effects degree program 
beginning in 2018/2019. This new degree program will provide 
18 additional spaces for students beginning Fall 2018. Once all 4 
years of this degree programs are in place, there will be a total of 
64 additional spaces for students. In 2017/2018 the Bachelor of 
Applied Arts in Film, Theatre, and Live Entertainment was also 
approved and will launch in Fall 2019.

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P3 
Implement new and redeveloped programs in the 
School of Continuing Education that meet regional 
community and industry needs.

Status: 
Achieved

Expected Completion Date:  June 2018

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality 
• Accountability

EO1 
Regional economic growth is enhanced through the 
provision of education and training that meets the 
needs of communities and industry.

Expected Completion Date:  June 2018

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality 
• Accountability

EO2 
Learner outcomes for new and redeveloped School 
of Continuing Education programs are strengthened 
in the areas of leadership, critical thinking, service 
orientation, and self-knowledge.

Expected Completion Date:  June 2018

• Quality

EO3 
Implementation of up to seven new, self-funded, 
School of Continuing Education programming options

Expected Completion Date:  June 2018

• Accessibility
• Affordability 
• Accountability

Percentage of SCE Course Completers Provided With  
a Valuable Learning Experience

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

98.2% 98.0% 98.0%

Percentage of Employers Satisfied with the Career 
Development and Corporate Training Programs

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

93.8% 97.2% N/A

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

PM1 
High level of agreement by School of Continuing 
Education course completers that they were provided 
with a valuable learning experience. 

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

PM2 
High level of employer satisfaction with the  
knowledge and skills of School of Continuing 
Education Career Development and corporate  
training program completers. 

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

RDC  |  GOAL 4 RDC WILL ASSERT ITS COMMITMENT TO COMPREHENSIVE PROGRAMMING: ACADEMIC UPGRADING, APPRENTICESHIP, CERTIFICATES, 
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PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P3: 

The School of Continuing Education regularly conducts 
research and connects with regional communities, business 
and industry to identify training needs. In addition, the 
employers of graduates from all Career Development 
programs are surveyed on an annual basis. The School of 
Continuing Education continually strives to diversify its 
programming by examining the needs of learners today and 
the future learners of tomorrow. Following is a list of new or 
redeveloped programs in 2017/2018:

• Trauma Informed Certificate

• Advanced Management

• Management Skills for Supervisors

• Health Care Aid 

• Brokered Management Skills for Supervisors

• Classroom Support (Educational Assistant)

• Pre-Employment Carpentry 

• Residential Heating and Cooling Troubleshooting

• Professional Bookkeeping Certificate 

• Pre-Employment Trades Certificates 

 

Corporate Training 
Despite some staffing turnover and the continued volatility 
in the market, several new corporate opportunities were 
realized. Furthermore, the School of Continuing Education 
continued to deliver and support the Trinidad and Tobago 
partnership and expand Indigenous contracts. Overall, 89 
different companies and organizations were engaged in 
2017/2018. 

New Summer Camp Programming 
Summer at RDC is busy and exciting as people of all ages 
come to RDC to learn new skills, meet like-minded people and 
expand their horizons. This encourages campers to envision 
a bright future through RDC. Between September 2017 and 
May 2018, our summer programming team developed new 
programs to keep our campers coming back year after year. 
Planning for Summer 2018 introduced new Drone camps, 
Coding camps and the first ever Animation camp. The Drone 
and Coding camps are developed in part from funded grants 
from Actua and the Government of Canada’s CanCode 
initiative. The new Animation camp was designed from the 
collaboration with faculty from the School of Creative Arts 
and is aligned with the new Bachelor of Arts applied degree 
in Animation and Visual Effects. 
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P1 
Enhance strategies to assess program demand in order  
to maximize enrolment and reduce costs.  

Status: 
Progress Made

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Accountability

EO1 
Improved processes for determining program mix based 
on proven demand and information acquired through 
incubation as non-credit or brokered courses or programs.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018
 

• Accessibility
• Accountability

EO2 
Market testing credit programs as non-credit or brokering 
credit programs increases RDC’s ability to respond to 
changing demands and needs.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Accountability

GOAL 5
RDC WILL DEVELOP A  

STABLE RESOURCE BASE.* 
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DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

EO3 
Enrolment growth in credit and non-credit programming.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility

PM1 
Increased number of market-tested, non-credit courses 
and programs for potential conversion to credit courses  
or programs.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

Number of Non-credit Courses and Programs

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

21 16 14

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P1: 

Market testing and incubation of programs through brokered 
arrangements or non-credit offerings is a strategic way for 
RDC to efficiently assess demand and remain responsive to 
regional needs. In 2017/2018, RDC continued to use a new 
process that was developed in 2016/2017 to guide the 
selection of programs. The six criteria used to inform program 
mix include:

• Strategic Alignment

• Cost to Implement

• High Demand in the Community

• Uniqueness of the Program in the System

• Synergy/Enhancement of Existing and New Programs

• Link to Areas of Job Growth

Deans’ Council, with the assistance of the Academic Program 
Development Manager and the Director of Teaching and 
Learning, developed a robust annual process to review the 
entire program array in relation to viability. In 2017/2018, 
the Music Diploma program at RDC was suspended.  
The suspension was made due to the program no longer 
being viable.

*   For more information on identified financial risks and 
strategies to mitigate these risks, see the Capital Plan 
submitted directly to Alberta Advanced Education.
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RDC  |  GOAL 5 RDC WILL DEVELOP A STABLE RESOURCE BASE

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P2 
Build additional revenue sources through fund 
development and entrepreneurial activities.

Status: 
Progress made

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Affordability

EO1 
Success in the Shaping Our Future (SOF) campaign 
allows RDC to meet its commitment to support 
construction of the Gary W. Harris Canada Games 
Centre/Centre des Jeux du Canada Gary W. Harris (the 
Canada Games Centre).

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Affordability

EO2 
The Canada Games Centre continues to draw donor 
attention to RDC, thereby contributing to ongoing 
fund development initiatives in support of overall 
programming, awards, and facilities development.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Affordability

EO3 
The centralized approach of bundled sponsorship 
opportunities continues to direct financial support to 
priority projects.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Affordability

EO4 
Enhanced relations with business and industry lead to 
more corporate and contract training opportunities.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accessibility
• Affordability

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

PM1  & PM2
The Shaping Our Future campaign and annual 
development focus exists to supplement our operating 
budget and assist with capital projects. We had a 5 year 
ultimate goal of $30 million.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

Since the inception of the SOF Campaign (2014/15), 
total new gift and partner commitments have been 
made in the amount of $14,940,000 (to June 22, 2018).  
In addition to this, the below annual, business and 
sponsorship development revenues are provided.

.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*  While we did not achieve our ultimate goal of $30 million, 

we have increased relationships, awareness and affinity 
to RDC. Our commitment to continual fundraising 
to supplement our operating budget is as strong and 
focused and we search for ongoing opportunities and 
partnerships to assist with our priorities.

PM3 
Annual revenue targets for the School of Continuing 
Education are achieved.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

Targets for the past two years have exceeded the 
baseline budget expectation from RDC of $500,000 per 
year. In addition, $530,000 was generated to ancillary 
services because of the School of Continuing Education 
programming.

PM4 
Increased net annual contribution from the School of 
Continuing Education.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

Annual Development Commitments by Fiscal Year

2017/2018* 2016/2017 2015/2016

$870,143.70 $252,025.65 $1,121,013.57

Business Development/Sponsorship  
Commitments by Fiscal Year

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

$297,276.20 $591,628.08 $294,633.75

Gross Revenue for the School of Continuing Education
(Target Each Year = $500,000)

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

$5,385,827 $5,401,057 $4,448,121

School of Continuing Education  
Net Revenue and % Return

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

$578,040
11%

$590,867
11%

$262,126
6%
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DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

PM5 
Increased corporate and contract training.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

Corporate Training within the School of Continuing 
Educat ion was impacted in 2017/2018 due to 
unforeseen changes in personnel. These changes 
coupled with economic uncertainty contributed to 
lower than expected engagement. 

Gross Revenues from School of Continuing Education 
Corporate Training (Including Indigenous,  

International, and Domestic)

2017/2018 2016/2017 2015/2016

$1,537,036 $1,644,964 N/A

RDC  |  GOAL 5 RDC WILL DEVELOP A STABLE RESOURCE BASE

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P2: 

RDC’s Enterprise and Community Relations Division successfully 
engaged private donors, corporations, philanthropic 
foundations, Government of Alberta (non-base funded grants) 
for a campaign total of $14,940,000 in 2017/2018.

RDC Alumni Association initiated the “Paving Our Future” 
campaign, which ran from Summer 2017 until March 31, 2018. 
More than 350 donors provided inscribed stones to serve as the 
legacy walkway to the Canada Games Centre.

Community Relations (CR) reengaged supporters from the 
“Please Take Your Seat” initiative, participated in the Red Deer 
Public Market, the Red Deer Chamber of Commerce Business 
After Hours, community Social Media Breakfasts, RDC’s Mini 
Maker Faire; and hosted displays at both major malls in Red Deer. 
CR staff also hosted an alumni event in the Greater Toronto Area 
and a Thanksgiving Luncheon for RDC internal donors. 

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P3 
Implement an Alumni Relations Strategic Plan.

Status: 
Complete

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality

EO1 
Improved engagement with RDC alumni leading to the 
elevation of the College’s reputation within the region 
and beyond. 

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Quality

EO2 
Improved engagement with RDC alumni leading to 
greater planned and annual giving.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability

PM1 
Increased number of alumni engaged with RDC.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

* The resources allocated to this effort was similar to 
2016/2017 and the difference of 321 out of 23,000  
is negligible.

PM2 
Increased number of alumni-sponsored events.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

Over the past 3 years the RDC Alumni Association has 
partnered with RDC Alumni Relations on one significant 
special event – the annual Fine Wine and Food Tasting 
Festival.
* Due to economic challenges in the community, additional 
events were not added in 2017-18.

PM3 
Increased financial investment in RDC by alumni.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

Total Number of Alumni Engaged with RDC

2017/2018* 2016/2017 2015/2016

23,300 23,621 22,003

Alumni Total Giving

2017/2018* 2016/2017 2015/2016

Organization $166,167.00 $129,366.94 $65,298.50

Individual $275,718.20 $77,165.49 $64,800.56
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PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P3: 

The Alumni Relations Strategic Plan has been written, 
identifying goals, targets and strategies for the next three years. 
Given the institutions forthcoming transition to University 
status, the plan will be revisited on a regular basis to ensure 
strategies keep alumni engaged and provide opportunities 
for our alumni to be informed, connected, and proud of their 
relationship with RDC.

In 2017/2018, total alumni identified and on record within the 
Community Relations (CR) database totaled 75,000. Of that 
total, 23,300 were engaged through the following methods 
and programs: direct phone calls, email communications, face 
to face meetings, direct mail, Notebook Magazine mailed, 
event attendance, “Keep in Touch” submissions, Alumni Benefit 
Cards that were mailed out, and Athletics Alumni called by RDC 
Student Athletes.

Marketing & Communications and Web Services collaborated 
with Alumni Relations to create an e-zine, Spotlight, housed on 
RDC’s website (rdc.ab.ca/spotlight); 2 editions were produced 
in 2017/2018 achieving more than 1,800 unique page views.

The Donald School of Business exclusively recruits alumni to 
serve as members on the Donald School of Business Advisory 
Committee.

Total Alumni giving in 2017/2018 grew significantly in both 
areas of individual alumni ($275,716.20) and alumni owned/
operated businesses ($166,167.00). The Paving Our Future 
initiative impacted these totals. Growth in alumni giving grew 
from $35,351.45 in 2014/15 to $441,883.20 in 2017/2018.

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

P4 
Implement the Green Energy Master Plan.

Status: 
Complete

• Affordability
• Accountability 

EO1 
RDC experiences significant reductions in energy costs, 
CO2 emissions, and its environmental footprint.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accountability

EO2 
The College serves as a regional model of energy 
efficiency.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Accountability

EO3 
RDC creates a more stable resource base by reducing 
its reliance on purchased power.

Expected Completion Date:  2017/2018

• Affordability

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

PM1 
Increased savings on energy costs.

Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

Total power generation from these installations will be 
up to 2.9 megawatts per year.

Savings data unavailable for Annual Report 2017/2018.

PROGRESS ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE P4: 

The college initiated a number of projects in 2017/2018 in 
support of our Green Energy Master Plan. The implementation 
was completed late Spring 2018, therefore the results (reduced 
power consumption and reduced green-house gas emissions) 
will become available after the first quarter in action. The 
evolution of the Energy Master Plan, will include the long-term 
goal to be a net-zero campus.’

The College successfully secured 50% funding under the 
Federal Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) to implement the 
Green Energy Initiative. This initiative involved the installation 
of 3645 photovoltaic panels and a combined heat and power 
(CHP) plant.

The construction of the new Alternative Energy Lab provides an 
unique opportunity for RDC to expand teaching and learning 
opportunities, engage business and industry, demonstrate new 
technologies and conduct “made in Alberta” applied research. 
The lab allows us to demonstrate and train on alternative 
energy technologies which support the lowering of carbon 
emissions.

RDC  |  GOAL 5 RDC WILL DEVELOP A STABLE RESOURCE BASE

http://rdc.ab.ca/spotlight);
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The Management Certificate experienced a decline in FLE 
enrolment compared to the estimate as a results of new 
admission requirements. The Management Certificate ladders 
into the Business Administration Diploma and because of this, 
the admission requirements for the Management Certificate 
changed with the required addition of English and Math 
beginning in 2017/2018. RDC is currently considering ways to 
accommodate students who don’t meet the new admission 
requirements for the Management Certificate.

In late spring of 2017, the distance delivery cohort of the Unit 
Clerk Certificate was suspended for 2017/2018 due to the 
limited number of practicum placements. This accounts for 
the difference in FLE estimates compared to actual for this 
program. The on-campus cohort continues to experience 
strong demand and enrolment.

The Human Resource Management Graduate Certificate 
experienced relatively low demand which resulted in lower 
than projected 2017/2018 enrolment. 

In 2017/2018 RDC has suspended intake into year 1 of 
the Music Diploma and Music preparatory courses for 
2018/2019. The RDC Music diploma program has suffered 
from decreasing demand and enrolment over the past several 
years. With multiple providers across the province, committing 
significant resources to new programs and facilities, it has 
become increasingly difficult for RDC to compete for students 
in this area. Current students in the Music Diploma program 
will be fully supported through 2018/2019 in order for them 
to meet their graduation requirements. Year 2 intake will be 
suspended in 2019/2020. Music electives will continue to be 
offered to support existing programs and additional music 
electives will be developed to support future degrees and 
diplomas across the institution.

The 17/18 Campus Alberta Grant increased 2% from 16/17 
and 17/18 tuition fees remained the same as 16/17, however, 
revenue had a slight decrease due to enrollment.

Our Statement of Financial Position reflects the completion 
of our Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre and Alternative 
Energy Lab projects, investment in Green Energy Master Plan 
initiatives and progress on construction of our new student 
residence building.

* For more information on identified financial risks and strategies 
to mitigate these risks, see the Capital Plan submitted directly to 
Alberta Advanced Education.

The 17/18 operations resulted in a 740K surplus compared 
to a balanced operating budget presented in the 17/18 
Comprehensive Institutional Plan (CIP). Combined with the 
net debt presentation including endowment contributions 
and capitalized endowment interest the year ended with an 
annual surplus of 1.3M overall.

The operating surplus contributes to net asset growth and will 
be utilized by strategic investment into various capital projects.  

The operating surplus was a result of the following key factors:

• Investment gains
• Reduced vacation liability
• Savings in utility costs 
• Various other operating budget efficiencies

Grants and Tuition continue to be the two primary sources of 
revenue. The actual operating results for Grants and Tuition 
are stated as a percentage of gross revenues on the 17/18 
financial statements as follows:  

2017/2018 
REVENUE ACTUAL

Student Tuition  
and Fees (19%)

Government of Alberta 
Grants (62%)

ENROLMENT PLAN  
AND PROGRAM CHANGES
OVERVIEW:

Overall, the 2017/2018 FLE estimates were very similar 
to the 2017/2018 FLE actuals (3858 compared to 3779) 
and RDC continues to experience strong enrolment. RDC 
was essentially able to achieve the target for regular credit 
enrolment (excluding Apprenticeship), with only a 4 FLE 
difference compared to the actual (3172 compared to 3168). 
In 2017/2018, Apprenticeship fell 75 FLE short of reaching 
the target.  The provincial economic environment continues 
to affect demand for Apprenticeship programs and resulted 
in fewer overall seats assigned to RDC by AIT. This lower FLE 
in Apprenticeship accounts for the majority of the overall 
difference between the FLE estimates and actuals for 
2017/2018. 

Significant differences between estimates and actuals  
for 2017/2018 include:

Both the certificate and diploma programs for Early Learning 
and Child Care attracted more FLE than estimated. This 
difference can be attributed expanded distance delivery 
offerings, increasing the accessibility, targeted marketing and 
strategic enrolment management. 

A significant change in the FLE estimate to actual was also 
realized in the Educational Assistant certificate program, 
bringing the total number of FLE over 100. This is, in part, 
due to introducing a new Continuing Education program in 
partnership with the School of Education and local school 
divisions.  This stackable credential provided learners with the 
opportunity to complete a career development certificate.  
Achieving the first level of educational training in their field of 
study motivated working Educational Assistants to continue 
their studies and fulfill the requirements of the certificate. 

The Practical Nurse diploma program also saw an increase 
in actual enrolment compared to the estimate in 2017/2018 
with the introduction of two rural cohorts in Rocky Mountain 
House and Stettler. The demand for these rural cohorts 
continues to remain strong. 

FINANCIAL  
AND BUDGET 
INFORMATION*
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FULL LOAD EQUIVALENT ENROLMENT  
BY PROGRAM AND SPECIALIZATION

Program Name Year of Study 2017/2018 2017/2018

Estimates Actual

University Transfer

B. Arts (Year 1 & 2) Total 285 300

Anthropology Total 7 4

Communications Total 16 11

Economics Total 6 3

English Total 13 14

French or Spanish Total

General Total 77 87

History Total 7 11

Philosophy Total 3 5

Political Science Total 16 14

Psychology Total 117 127

Sociology Total 24 23

B. Arts in Recreation, Sport & Tourism (Yr 1) 1 3 4

B. Commerce ( Yr 1 & 2) Total 94 83

B. Education Elem. & Secondary Combined  
(Yr 1 & 2)

Total 349 350

Elementary Total 269 264

Secondary Total 76 86

B. Science and B. Education Combined Total 4 6

B. Fine Arts & Visual Art Diploma Combined  
(Yr 1 & 2)

Total 69 64

B. Kinesiology (Yr 1 & 2) Total 180 182

Adapted Physical Education Total 17 7

Coaching & Sport Performance Total 0 0

Fitness and Health Promotion Total 13 13

General Total 150 92

Sport Management Total 0 0

B. Science (Yr 1 & 2) Total 224 222

Atmospheric Sciences/Environmental 
Sciences

Total 0

Program Name Year of Study 2017/2018 2017/2018

Estimates Actual

University Transfer Cont.

Biochemistry Total 3 3

Biological Sciences Total 36 32

Chemistry Total 1 5

Environmental and Conservation Sciences Total 4 8

Environmental Management Total 2

General Total 66 67

Mathematics or Statistics or Math  
and Economics

Total 2 4

Physics or Geophysics Total 3 5

Physiology Total 2 1

Pre-Chiropractic Total 1 3

Pre-Dentistry Total 10 10

Pre-Medicine Total 22 20

Pre-Optometry Total 6 3

Pre-Pharmacy Total 28 25

Pre-Veterinary Medicine Total 20 23

Psychology Total 12 15

B.Science in Agricultural/Food  
Business Management

1 0

B. Science in Agriculture 1 3 2

B. Science in Human Ecology 1 0

B. Science in Nutrition and Food Sciences 1 3 4

B. Sc. Engineering (Yr 1) 1 54 46

B. Sc. Nursing ( Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 281 275

Applied Degree

Motion Picture Arts (Yr 4) 4 15 16

Acting 4 5 4

Production 4 10 12

Total University Transfer and  
Applied Degree

1554 1430
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Program Name Year of Study 2017/2018 2017/2018

Estimates Actual

Degree Completion

B. Business Administration ( Yr 3 & 4) Total 125 105

Total Degree Completion 125 105

Program Name Year of Study 2017/2018 2017/2018

Estimates Actual

Diploma Continued

Instrumentation Engineering Technology 
Diploma (Yr 1 & 2)

Total 20 20

Legal Assistant (Yr 1 & 2) Total 65 71

Mechanical Engineering Technology (Yr 1 & 2) Total 35 37

Media Studies and Professional 
Communication (Yr 1 & 2)

Total 40 37

Music (Yr 1 & 2) Total 42 26

Occupational Therapist & Physiotherapist 
Assistant (Yr 1 & 2)

Total 37 37

Pharmacy Technician  (Yr 1 & 2) Total 50 50

Practical Nurse (Yr 1 & 2) Total 135 164

Social Work (Yr 1 & 2) Total 82 88

Theatre Studies - Performance and Creation 
(Yr 1 & 2)

Total 17 16

Theatre Studies - Entertainment Production 
(Yr 1 & 2)

Total 14 16

Total Diploma 852 864

FULL LOAD EQUIVALENT ENROLMENT  
BY PROGRAM AND SPECIALIZATION

Career Certificate and Graduate Certificate

Administrative Professional 1 33 37

Early Learning & Child Care 1 54 69

Educational Assistant 1 67 107

Human Resources Management  
Graduate Certificate

1 15 8

Management Certificate 1 112 55

Medical Laboratory Assistant 1 25 26

Unit Clerk 1 40 21

Advanced Certificate

Motion Picture Arts (Yr 3) 3 14 16

Acting 3 6 7

Production 3 8 9

Total Career Certificate/Graduate 
Certificate/Advanced Certificate

360 339

Diploma

Business Administration (Yr 1 & 2) Total 252 267

Accounting Total 41 37

Financial Services Total 17 24

General Management Total 162 166

Human Resources Total 12 17

Marketing Total 20 23

Early Learning & Child Care 2 20 28

Electrical Engineering Technology (Yr 1 & 2) Total 43 35

HSE/Adult Upgrading

Academic Upgrading 1 133 135

Total HSE/Adult Upgrading 133 135

Other

Open Studies 1 125 123

TVP 1 23 21

Total Other 148 144
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Program Name Year of Study 2017/2018 2017/2018

Estimates Actual

Apprenticeship Programs

Automotive Service Technician ( Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 43 44

Carpenter ( Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 43 42

Cook ( Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 9 7

Electrician ( Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 152 152

Heavy Equipment Technician ( Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 88 74

Instrument Technician ( Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 42 36

Locksmith ( Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 15 15

Millwright ( Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 20 14

Parts Technician ( Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 15 13

Plumber ( Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 37 36

Rig Technician ( Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 4 1

Sprinkler Systems Installer ( Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 57 37

Steamfitter-Pipefitter ( Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 71 66

Water Well Driller ( Yr 1, & 2) Total 6 2

Welder ( Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 85 70

Total Apprenticeship 686 611

FULL LOAD EQUIVALENT ENROLMENT  
BY PROGRAM AND SPECIALIZATION

TOTALS (EXCLUDING APPRENTICESHIP)

2017/2018 2017/2018

Estimates Actual

Total FLE (Excluding Apprenticeship) 3172 3168

Total FLE Change From Estimates to Actuals 4

Percentage Change in FLE Estimates to Actuals -0.1%

GRAND TOTALS

2017/2018 2017/2018

Estimates Actual

Total FLE (Including Apprenticeship) 3858 3779

Total FLE Change From Estimates to Actuals 79

Percentage Change in FLE Estimates to Actuals -2%

INTERNATIONAL STUDENT ENROLMENT

TOTALS 2017/2018 2017/2018

Estimates Actual

Unduplicated Headcount 157 118

% Of Total RDC Unduplicated Headcount* 2.1% 1.6%

Red Deer College did not provide International Student enrolment projections by program in the 2017-2018 – 2019/2020 CIP; however, 
these projections will be included in the next CIP (due June 2019). Overall, the International Student enrolment projection was higher 
than the actual Internationals Student enrolment in 2017/2018. 

FULL LOAD EQUIVALENT ENROLMENT FULL LOAD EQUIVALENT ENROLMENT
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In 2017/2018, RDC used a systematic, staged process for 

developing and redeveloping programs. The process 

includes the stages of pre-development, concept 

proposal, full proposal, implementation and detailed 

course development, as well as a formative program 

implementation evaluation one year following the 

graduation of the first class. In cases of Degrees with an 

applied focus, Campus Alberta Quality Council guidelines 

on comprehensive evaluation requirements are followed. 

RDC maintains a 10 Year Program Mix Plan to inform 

direction and decisions about program development. The 

March 1, 2018 announcement by Premier Rachel Notley 

and Minister of Advanced Education, Marlin Schmidt, that 

RDC can pursue the development of degrees is informing 

program development decisions for degree programming. 

PROGRESS IN  
NEW PROGRAMS

PROGRAM 
DEVELOPMENT 

AND 
REDEVELOPMENT 

PROCESSES

Program development considers potential student demand, 

economic demand (employment market, further education 

prospects), financial viability, relationship to the RDC Strategic 

Plan, relationship to the Alberta post-secondary system, 

and College capacity. New and redeveloped programs are 

accessible, affordable, accountable, of high quality and align 

with student, community and regional needs and with RDC’s 

Strategic Plan.  Board Ends are a key consideration in all new 

and redeveloped programs.

Curriculum renewal occurs on a regular basis throughout 

the academic year for credit and apprenticeship programs. 

Programs are developed or redeveloped on the basis of input 

through various channels, including advisory groups, student 

and faculty feedback, and market surveys. 
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SYNOPSIS OF PROGRAM 
DEVELOPMENT/
REDEVELOPMENT  
IN 2017-18
New Programs Approved by the Ministry of 
Advanced Education:
 

Human Resources Management Graduate Certificate  
(Launched Fall 2017)

This program responds to a change, implemented by 
Human Resources Institute of Alberta, in 2011, that requires 
all Chartered Professionals in Human Resources to possess 
an undergraduate degree in order to be eligible to write 
the National Knowledge Examination (NKE). This program 
will be the first HR Management Certificate in Alberta 
to require a degree for admission to the program. The 
program was developed in close consultation with the 
Human Resources Institute of Alberta and the curriculum 
has been mapped against the Competency Framework. 
Accreditat ion of  the program by CPHR Alber ta was 
granted: graduates who achieve an overall average of 70%  
(2 .7  GPA)  in  the program are e l igible  to waive the 
N a t i o n a l  K n ow l e d g e  E x a m  re q u i re m e n t s  tow a rd s 
t h e i r  C P H R  d e s i g n a t i o n  w i t h  C C H R A  m e m b e r 
a s s o c i a t i o n s .  Th e  b l e n d e d  d e l i ve r y  m o d e l  o f  t h e 
program is also unique for this kind of programming in  
the province.

Pre-Health Sciences Certificate (Launch date: Fall 2018)

This program was identified as a priority by the School of Health 
Sciences through the 2016-17 Program Mix Plan project. 

The Pre-Health Sciences Certificate program is a pathway 
designed to give students who are interested in a health 
career the opportunity to explore basic concepts related to 
health and health care, academic success, critical thinking, 
communication, anatomy and physiology, and personal 
health and wellness. Students may do this while taking 
courses in Mathematics and Biology for Health Professions 
that can be used for admission. Students who complete this 
one year Certificate program will have the opportunity to 
explore a variety of health related careers that require either 
a Certificate or Diploma. They will also develop strong study 
skills.

Justice Studies Diploma  
(Launch date: Fall 2018)

In addition to providing access to students who are currently 
leaving the region to take similar programs, the Justice 
Studies Diploma will also help meet student demand 
within the province, particularly the northern region of the 
province. Program features include professional seminars 
and practicum placement. Another very important aspect 
of the program is that indigenous perspectives are threaded 
through all courses. In accordance with recommendations of 
the Truth and Reconciliation Commission, consultation and 
collaboration with Indigenous communities took place during 
the development of the courses, and ongoing relationships 
have been established to ensure that learning activities are 
developed and delivered appropriately. To facilitate greater 
participation of Indigenous learners, the Justice Studies 
program has designated 10% of seats for applicants who are 
Status Indian/First Nations, Non-status Indian/First Nations, 
Metis, or Inuit.

Bachelor of Applied Arts in Animation and Visual Effects 
(Launch date: Fall 2018)

The Bachelor of Applied Arts in Animation and Visual Effects 
adds a much-needed digital art-based program to the 
School and fills a current gap within the province. It is the 
only program in Alberta to teach all of the elements of the 
“animation pipeline” process used in most studios. Graduates 
of this degree will be prepared to work in the growing 
animation and gaming industries or to create their own studio 
start-ups. 

Bachelor of Applied Arts in Film, Theatre, and  
Live Entertainment  
(Launch date: Fall 2019)

The Bachelor of Applied Arts in Film, Theatre, and Live 
Entertainment replaces the current Theatre and Motion Picture 
Arts programs and provides students with the knowledge 
and skills required to work in Theatre, Film, and Live Event 
Production. Multiple pathways within the degree will allow 
for both specialized and trans-media learning opportunities. 
The program will be unique within the province, and is one 
of only a few programs in Canada, to provide students with 
opportunities to work across and understand the demands of 
film, theatre, and live entertainment industries.

The two new applied degree programs are offered alongside 
the current Visual Art diploma program, which will undergo 
some redevelopment to provide a common core of courses 
across all programs in the School. The applied degree model 
combines classroom training with practical application of 
skills to provide students with enhanced career opportunities. 
Through this model, we will help transition students from the 
classroom directly into professional practice. Both programs 
leverage RDC’s demonstrated strengths in performance 
programming and facilities.

Health Care Management Post-Diploma Certificate 
(Launch date: January 2019)

This program was identified as a priority by both the Donald 
School of Business and the School of Health Sciences through the 
2016-17 Program Mix Plan project.

The Health Care Management Graduate Certificate prepares 
graduates to take on management or leadership roles 
within the complex and rapidly changing health care 
sector. Complementing the learner’s prior education as a 
practitioner, the program draws upon relevant management 
and organizational knowledge to support those who manage 
and lead, or aspire to do so, within health organizations. 
Throughout the program, foundational business concepts 
are applied to the challenges faced by both public and 
private health care organizations. The target audience for this 
program is primarily clinicians (e.g. nurses, health care aides, 
therapists and therapy assistants, medical technologists, etc.) 
who lack management skills but who have been assigned 
entry-level management or leadership duties.

eLearning Instructor Post-Diploma Certificate  
(Launch date: January 2019)

This program was identified as a priority by both the School of 
Education and the Centre for Teaching and Learning through 
the 2016-17 Program Mix Plan project.

The eLearning Instructor Graduate Certificate responds 
to identified needs in public, post-secondary, and adult 
education for a high quality of instruction in ever-expanding 
online environments. Not only is online education a growing 
trend in education at all levels and in the workplace, it is 
particularly vital as a delivery method for reaching rural and 
traditionally underserved populations in Canada and for 
providing inclusive educational environments. The target 
audience for this program is primarily working professionals 
seeking credentialed learning as they develop or enhance 
their knowledge and skills related to teaching in an online 
environment in post-secondary or adult educational contexts; 
a secondary audience is K-12 teachers with an online teaching 
role. Through the courses and Capstone Project in this fully 
online certificate, students will develop their skills and 
knowledge-base to create successful and engaging online 
learning environments.

Adult and Higher Education Instructor  
Post-Diploma Certificate  
(Launch date: May 2019)

This program was identified as a priority by both the School of 
Education and the Centre for Teaching and Learning through 
the 2016-17 Program Mix Plan project.

The Adult and Higher Education Instructor Graduate 
Certificate is designed to prepare individuals for success 
as an instructor in an adult or post-secondary learning 
environment. Grounded in a Canadian teaching context, this 
certificate is also suitable for anyone responsible for teaching 
adults in workplace settings, including business, health care, 
government, and occupational health and safety. Through 
the courses and Capstone Project in this advanced certificate, 
students will develop their skills and knowledge-base to 
create successful and engaging learning environments for 
a wide range of adult learners. Intended for those entering 
into or wishing to expand their abilities in the fields of higher 
education and adult education, this fully online program 
prepares graduates for success in a variety of teaching and 
learning settings. 

Note: eLearning Instructor Graduate Certificate and the  
Adult and Higher Education Graduate Certificate contain  
3 common core courses.

PROGRESS IN NEW PROGRAMS PROGRESS IN NEW PROGRAMS
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CONTINUED PROGRAM 
DEVELOPMENT/
REDEVELOPMENT/
EXPANSION
During 2017/2018, the College worked on several program 
in relation to development, redevelopment and expansion.  
Work will continue in 2018/2019 on the following programs:

New Programs Being Explored for  
Development (Stage 1)

• Science Degree

• Entrepreneurship Certificate

• Communicative Disorders Certificate

New Programs Being Explored for  
Development (Stage 2)

• Kinesiology Degree  
(potential collaboration with U of A)

 - Ongoing redevelopment of Bachelor of Science Nursing, 
Kinesiology Diplomas, and Occupational Therapist and 
Physiotherapist Assistant Diploma in the School of 
Health Sciences.

 - Ongoing redevelopment of the Educational Assistant 
and Early Learning and Child Care programs in the 
School of Education. 

• Continuing Education

 - The School of Continuing Education continues to 
work collaboratively with other RDC Schools and 
with community partners to research and develop 
new programming and funding opportunities in 
accordance with both the Red Deer College Strategic 
Plan and the School of Continuing Education Strategic 
Plan.  In 2017/2018, the following programs underwent 
development or redevelopment:

 •      ACTUA CanCode – $70,000 funding received to 
provide coding camps to 5000 youth grades K-12 
between April 2018 – August 2019

 •     Ermineskin First Nation – 22 week pre-trades 
training and upgrading program to prepare 
students for entry level trades position or pre-
employment trades program

 •    Government of Alberta Language Training Grant 
$243,000 to fund Trauma-Informed Certificate for 
ESL Instructors (Pilot delivered in March 2018); 
Workplace Language Skills for ESL Levels 3 & 4 
(Pilot scheduled for delivery in December 2018)

 •      Health Care Aide - New cohorts: Winter 2018 
in Drumheller ; Fall 2018 in Drumheller and 
Ermineskin First Nation; Winter 2019 in Stettler and 
Rocky Mountain House

 •      Educational Assistant - Continues to expand from 
5 cohorts in 2017-18 term and more exploratory 
work with additional school divisions

 •      Kitchen Management Certificate – Supported by 
funding from Campus Alberta Central expected to 
launch Spring 2019

 •      Trauma-Informed Educator’s Certificate (launched 
August 2019)

 •      Renewable Energy Fair and Workshops (October 
2018) in partnership with ReThink Red Deer will 
feature our new Alternative Energy Lab

PROGRAM SUSPENSION
In 2017/2018 RDC has suspended intake into year 1 of the 
Music Diploma and Music preparatory courses for 2018/2019. 
The RDC Music diploma program has suffered from decreasing 
demand and enrolment over the past several years. With 
multiple providers across the province, committing significant 
resources to new programs and facilities, it has become 
increasingly difficult for RDC to compete for students in this 
area. Current students in the Music Diploma program will be 
fully supported through 2018/2019 in order for them to meet 
their graduation requirements. Year 2 intake will be suspended 
in 2019/2020. Music electives will continue to be offered to 
support existing programs and additional music electives will 
be developed to support future degrees and diplomas across 
the institution.

In anticipation of Ministry approval for the Bachelor of Applied 
Arts in Film, Theatre, and Live Entertainment, 1st year intake 
into the following programs has been suspended for 2018-19 
(no intake of new students):

• Theatre Performance and Creation Diploma

• Theatre and Entertainment Production Diploma 

RDC’s approach to research, applied research, innovation, and 

scholarly activities has included actively pursuing industry and 

community applied research projects, managing and promoting 

the Centre for Innovation in Manufacturing, as well as creating 

an environment where applied research can flourish across 

the College. This is a pathway for faculty, staff, and students to 

apply knowledge in practical settings and increased knowledge 

transfer through research ventures at RDC. The College’s strategic 

plan (RDC 2020) envisions research in three priority areas: 

innovation in manufacturing, environment and ecology, as well 

as rural health, wellness and community development. These 

activities have provided practical solutions to social issues and 

technological challenges. Evidence reveals how supporting 

businesses during the commercialization process has led to 

greater economic competitiveness and diversity in the Central 

Region. RDC’s rich research environment relies on the continued 

support of Advanced Education’s operating grants, investments 

in infrastructure, community partnerships and other grants 

successfully obtained. 

RESEARCH, APPLIED 
RESEARCH, AND 
SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES

PROGRESS IN NEW PROGRAMS



68  |  RED DEER COLLEGE 2017/2018 ANNUAL REPORT   |   69

INNOVATION IN 
MANUFACTURING
T h e  C e n t r e  f o r  I n n o v a t i o n  i n 
Manufactur ing (CIM) ser ves as a 
manufacturing hub of innovation 
activity in Alberta, linking industries 
with institutions and contributing to 
the development of key capacities 
i n  d e s i gn ,  d e s i gn  e n gi n e e r i n g, 
fabrication, testing, and prototyping. 
During 2017/2018, the CIM provided 
support to new initiatives directed at 
clean technology, climate change, and 
training for women in international 
business. 

APPLIED HEALTH 
AND COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT
R e s e a r c h  p r o j e c t s  w i t h i n  t h e 
Department of Psychology explored 
various regionally relevant topics. 
Specifically, the following topics were 
explored in 2017/2018: 

• The impact of post-traumatic 
stress disorder in first responders 
in central Alberta and Red Deer 
Emergency Services

• The effectiveness of Red Deer 
Primary Care Network’s Level 2 
Specialty Geriatric Mentoring 
Program in improving the 
healthcare experience, self-efficacy, 
and quality of life of informal 
care partners of individuals with 
dementia

• An assessment of Alberta Health 
Services and Central Alberta 
Poverty Reduction Alliance to 
understand community views and 
opinions regarding poverty in  
Red Deer

• An assessment of the effectiveness 
of the promotion of 40 
developmental assets through 
a Red Deer event sponsored by 
Strengthening Positive Assets and 
Resiliency in Communities.

Each of these collaborations produced 
results of immediate interest and 
benefit to community participants, 
thus supporting engaged individuals 
and communities for a healthy Alberta.

 
 
 

ENVIRONMENT 
AND ECOLOGY
Recognizing RDC’s responsibility to 
use available resources toward refining 
renewable energy sources, the School 
of Trades and Technologies is poised 
to contribute to Alberta’s electricity 
generation through the use of solar 
photovoltaics, solar thermal, and wind 
energy. The Centre for Innovation 
in Manufactur ing suppor ted the 
prototype development, testing, and 
scale-up of a unique wind turbine 
design. In this way, students have been 
given the opportunity to engage in 
practical learning related to alternative 
energy technologies and to support 
a l ternat ive energy solut ions for 
business and industry. This is significant 
because the Alberta Research and 
Innovation Plan cites as much as 30 
per cent of Alberta’s electricity needs 
are currently met through wind and 
solar power which will require a skilled 
and knowledgeable labor force. 

RDC’s recent construction efforts 
a lso ref lect  the commitment to 
environmental conservation and 
sustainability. Between the rooftop 
 of the Gary W. Harris Canada Games 

Centre, the inter-campus pedway, 
and three sides of the new student 
residence, RDC is acknowledged as 
having the largest rooftop installation 
in Alberta (3633 solar panels) and the 
single largest institutional solar array  
in Canada. 

 
ALTERNATIVE 
ENERGY LAB
The School of Trades and Technologies 
was actively engaged in the planning 
of RDC ’s new Alternative Energy 
Lab (AEL).  This new lab will provide 
access to resources and expertise 
for applied research, demonstration, 
and instruction in alternative energy 
systems. The AEL is envisioned as a 
resource for the Central Alberta Region 
as individuals and companies explore 
and implement renewable energy 
technologies. The ground breaking 
ceremony took place in August 2017, 
and the official opening will occur in 
February 2019. 

 
SCHOLARSHIP OF 
TEACHING AND 
LEARNING
In  2017/2018,  32 students  were 
engaged in a range of applied research 
projects. 20 students completed work 
related to market research and 12 
were involved in various social science, 
educational, or health related projects.

Several learning opportunities are 
offered for faculty and staff at RDC. 
These include offerings in the CTL 
such as Introduction to Teaching and 
Learning, Excellence in Teaching and 
Learning, and Introduction to Online 
Teaching and Learning; various mental 
health training offerings through 
the Counselling and Career Centre; 
resources and workshops through 
the Research Common; and various 
teachings through the Indigenous 
Services Coordinator.

 

The Excellence in Online Teaching and 
Learning program was redeveloped 
and made available as a collection 
o f  asynchronous  modules  wi th 
continuous entry and engagement 
with a Learning Designer.  Participants 
have the choice of completing a 
certified project with the program. 
Twelve faculty members participated 
in 17/18. 

Other notable projects undertaken in 
the area of Scholarship of Teaching and 
Learning at RDC include:

• The Canadian Context of 
Faculty Development Programs 
for Teaching Online in PSE: 
Recommendations and Resources 
(Educational Developers Caucus 
Grant Funded Project, Faculty in the 
Centre for Teaching and Learning)

• Impact of Teaching Development 
Programming on College Faculty 
(Faculty in the Centre for Teaching 
and Learning)

• Use of Photovoice in 
Undergraduate Teaching (Faculty in 
Sociology)

• Impact of Prep for Practice on  
Social Work Students (Faculty in 
Social Work)

• Writing for Creative Repurposing: 
Assessing Student Writing 
Strategies (Faculty in English)

• Interprofessional Communities  
of Practice: Fostering Resilience in 
Post-Secondary Students (Faculty 
in Occupational and Physiotherapy 
Assistant Program)

• Diversification of Students to 
Enhance Employability (Faculty  
in Trades, Welding)

• Art and Literature as Sites of 
Reconciliation (Faculty in English)

• Impact of Online Safe Medication 
Administration Modules on 
Bachelor of Science Nursing 
Students and National Council 
Licensure Examination Preparation 

 

FOSTERING 
APPLIED 
RESEARCH AND 
SCHOLARLY 
ACTIVITY
During 2017/2018, 130 RDC faculty 
engaged in scholar ly activity,  as 
defined by Boyer’s model. The Applied 
Research and Innovation group at 
RDC supported 12 Faculty and staff 
engaged in applied research through 
budget oversight and management, 
h i r ing  processes ,  and  progress 
reporting. Additionally, administrative 
suppor t ive was provided to the 
Research and Scholar ly  Act iv i ty 
Committee.  

Due to some staff ing challenges 
with the CIM, fewer applied research 
projects were supported this year 
than in past.  However, projects were 
completed in support of the energy, 
alternative energy, medical, and arts 
and entertainment sectors. The CIM 
remains an active contributor to the 
Alberta Innovation Network which 
links Alberta’s college and technical 
institutes’ applied research initiatives.  
The CIM also continues as one of the 
core service providers in the Central 
Alberta Regional Innovation Network 
and serves in an advisory capacity 
to Red Deer ’s  new entrepreneur 
incubator, Catapult.  

RESEARCH, APPLIED RESEARCH, AND SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES RESEARCH, APPLIED RESEARCH, AND SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES

Alternative Energy Lab
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RECOGNITION OF EXCELLENCE IN SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES
According to the Boyer Model, the recognized categories of faculty activity include: Scholarship of Discovery, Scholarship of 
Integration, Scholarship of Application, and Scholarship of Teaching. Four RDC Faculty members were celebrated for their excellence 
in scholarly activities during the 2017/2018 academic year. 

DR. HEATHER MARCOVITCH 
Articles “The Yellow Book: Reshaping the Fin de Siėcle” and 
“Oscar Wilde at the Shaw Festival (Niagara-on-the-Lake, 
Ontario, Canada)”.

English Instructor | School of Arts and Sciences

Heather Marcovitch specializes in late nineteenth- and early 
twentieth-century British literature. Her research focus is on 
Oscar Wilde, the early feminists known as the New Women, 
the writers of the English decadence, and late Victorian 
literary magazines. Her book The Art of the Pose: Oscar Wilde’s 
Performance Theory was published in 2011. She has written 
scholarly articles on Victorian and modernist literature and, 
with her colleagues at Red Deer College, has co-edited two 
collections of essays on television. She is currently working on 
a book on the 1890s literary journal The Yellow Book and on 
articles on its editors and contributors Henry Harland and Ella 
D’Arcy, and its publisher John Lane. She is also writing articles 
on bestselling 1890s author George Egerton.

Dr. Marcovitch also founded the Agora Undergraduate Journal 
in its current form and supervises a group of student editors 
each year, teaching them editing skills. She was the recipient 
of a Red Deer College Award of Excellence for her teaching 
and student mentorship.

LEANNE VIG
Scholarly Work on Workshop Roundtable Discussion: 
Classroom Activities and Two (2) Conference Presentations: 
“Innovative Strategies for Teaching Financial Accounting in 
a College Setting” (co-presented with Randy Nicholls) and 
“Intro to Accounting: Smarties Activity”. 

Instructor | Donald School of Business

Leanne Vig has been an Instructor at RDC since 2009 and 
teaches primarily introductory accounting and income 
tax courses at the Donald School of Business. Her scholarly 
teaching focuses on active learning in the classroom and 
adapting her learning activities for the online environment. 
Leanne received a Howard Teall Award for Innovation 
in Accounting Education from the Canadian Academic 
Accounting Association for her Smarties activity. She uses 
Smarties and other activities (i.e. “hand trick”, dance videos) 
to demonstrate concepts in first year accounting courses. An 
alumni of RDC’s Business Administration program, Leanne 
obtained her Certified General Accountant (CPA, CGA) 
designation in 1999 and completed her Master of Business 
Administration in 2013. 

CANDI RAUDEBAUGH
Shared Scholarly Work , “Interprofessional Communities of 
Practice: Fostering Resilience in Post-Secondary Students”.

Instructor | School of Health Sciences

Candi Raudebaugh is an instructor and chairperson in the 
Occupational and Physical Therapist Assistant (OPTA) Program 
at Red Deer College. Before she became an instructor, Candi 
worked clinically as an occupational therapist in mental 
health, outpatients, pediatrics, acute care, and other areas 
including her own private practice. In 2013, Candi started 
teaching at Red Deer College with the launch of the new 
OPTA program. In the 2015-2016 academic year, together with 
her research partner, Kristen Gulbransen, Candi completed 
a research project to explore the impact of interprofessional 
communities of practice on student resilience. 

KRISTEN GULBRANSEN
Shared Scholarly Work , “Interprofessional Communities of 
Practice: Fostering Resilience in Post-Secondary Students”.

BScN Instructor | School of Health Sciences

Kristen Gulbransen is an instructor in the School of Health 
Sciences. She teaches in the Bachelor of Nursing Program 
and is in the faculty navigator role at the present time. It was 
a great fit to be a part of an interprofessional research team 
investigating resilience in post-secondary students. Candi and 
Kristen both recognize that student coping and resilience is 
an area of importance in their teaching practice. They used 
an appreciative inquiry approach and learned from students 
how they perceived being resilient in their Red Deer College 
education experiences. Kristen is committed to health care 
research and teaching and learning that makes a positive 
impact on our Red Deer College community and beyond.

RECOGNITION OF EXCELLENCE IN SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES
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a) Academic Upgrading

In support of students who require Academic Upgrading, 
RDC provided a select ion of  courses  to help adult 
students complete pre-requisites for academic and career 
advancement. Students in the upgrading program will receive 
the academic skills and knowledge needed to successfully 
transition into a post-secondary program. In addition, a High 
School Equivalency Diploma can also be obtained through 
Academic Upgrading studies. However, a high school diploma 
is not always required for admission to a degree, diploma or 
certificates. The Academic Upgrading courses are a pathway 
for learners to gain requisite knowledge and achieve their 
post-secondary education goals.

b) Campus Alberta Central (CAC)*

CAC supported foundational learning in the region through 
working with partner organizations who provide foundational 
education services. This includes all Advanced Education 
funded Adult Learning Programs in the region. CAC provided 
partners with video conference equipment which is now 
being used to access foundational programming offered 
through an Alberta Works contracted organization. 1,498 
participants (655 students registered in General Educational 
Development (GED) preparation programming and 310 
registered in Alberta Works New Futures sessions) accessed 
programming using equipment provided to par tner 
organizations by CAC.

CAC also provided outreach to regional learners through 
partnerships with Community Adult Learning Programs 
(CALPs) and other Community Partners. In 2017/2018, CAC 
extended services to two new communities as part of 
outreach initiatives. As part of CAC’s contribution to the 
partners, annual training events are held. In June of 2018, 
32 CALP and community staff attended a CAC workshop 
regarding effective learner support services. 

Needs assessment reports received from partner organizations 
form a part of selection of programming that is supported 
by CAC.  In 2017/2018, CAC received needs reports from 16 
partner organizations. CAC is expanding on-line programming 
in areas that prepare students for a credit program. In 
2017/2018, CAC approved the development of a new RDC 
Kitchen Management Certificate that will ladder to the 
Journeyman Cook Program.

CAC partners received a total of 4788 inquiries regarding 
post-secondary education, 1737 community members were 
engaged at information events or attended CALP programs 
including 966 learners that engaged in foundational learning 
at CAC supported centres and 911 student support services 
were delivered for a total of 7436 contacts at partner locations. 
Students continued to receive quality programming with a 
95% successful completion rate. 

*  For more information on CAC initiatives in collaborating 
with CALPs to respond to regional foundational needs, 
please refer to pages 26-27 in this document.  

COMMUNITY 
OUTREACH AND 
UNDERREPRESENTED 
LEARNERS

a) Central Region Learning Sites 

CAC has partnered with local Community Adult Learning 
Programs (CALPs) to offer learning supports at 24 unique 
sites in 20 different rural communities. The commitment to 
improve access resulted in the fulfilment of the goal that 
no one should have to drive more than 45 minutes to get 
to a service location within the Central Region. With recent 
representation in Nordegg and Cessford, this objective in 
serving rural learners has been achieved. 

b) Online Course Availability

As part of regional stewardship, RDC partnered with CAC 
to provide online access to select courses for completion 
of several prominent campus programs. The following 
programs contain courses offered in either synchronous or 
asynchronous modes: 

• Locksmith

• Practical Nursing

• Health Care Aide

• Education Assistant Certificate

• Early Learning and Child Care Certificate and Diploma 

• Advanced Management Certificate

• Management Skills for Supervisors

• Administrative Professional Certificate

• Business Administration Diploma

• Kitchen Management Certificate

a)  B u i l d i n g  B r i d g e s :  A n  I n d i g e n o u s  E d u c a t i o n  
Strategic Plan

With the intention of recognizing the significant history of 
Canada’s Indigenous people as a critical component of the 
indigenized future of Alberta, RDC collaborated with many 
Indigenous leaders in the Central Region. Strong networks 
were developed with the Urban Aboriginal Voices Society, 
O’Chiese First Nation, Ermineskin Cree Nation, Montana 
First Nation, Louis Bull Tribe, and the Rupertsland Institute 
Metis Centre of Excellence to provide targeted support to 
Indigenous students as well as education of the learning 
community as a whole. These enhanced community 
relationships allow RDC to better meet the needs of 
Indigenous students.

Indigenized content has been mindfully integrated into 
various program curricula, lending the addition of Indigenous 
knowledge, culture, health, and wellness to bolster holistic 
learning.  

The following courses reflect a direct emphasis on Indigenous 
perspectives: 

• INDS 205 – Indigenous Peoples in Canada

• JUST 200 – The Justice System and Indigenous Canadians

• SOWK 214 – Reconciliation Through Social Work 

The School of Continuing Education partnered with Montana 
First Nation to provide innovative welding training to 
Indigenous learners in remote communities. A cohort of 50 
students was selected from an application pool exceeding 200 
applicants from the four nations of Maskwacis, which include 
Montana First Nation, Louis Bull Tribe, Samson Cree Nation, 
and Ermineskin Cree Nation. The program incorporated off-
campus delivery, augmented reality welding technology, 
cooperative work placements as well as newly developed 
alternative testing and assessment that aimed to be more 
culturally responsive to Indigenous learners. 

The School of Continuing Education has submitted a 
proposal to receive funding for Indigenous digital literacy 
programming, with plans to initiate as soon as 2018/2019.

Extracurricular activities coordinated by RDC’s Indigenous 
Student Services invite the public to celebrate diversity 
through inclusion and offer a tangible sense of cultural pride 
to Indigenous students. 

b) Reserved Admission for Indigenous Learners

The following program seats were reserved for qualified 
Indigenous applicants: 

• 6 in Practical Nursing

• 4 in Bachelor of Science, Nursing

• 4 in Justice Studies

CAC works with other college departments to provide 
coordinated services to Indigenous learners in the region. 
The RDC Practical Nurse program offered in Rocky Mountain 
House and Stettler held two spots at each location for 
Indigenous learner applications. 

*  For more information on initiatives involving Indigenization, 
please refer to pages 21-23, and page 27 in this document. 

Red Deer College (RDC) is the bridge between motivated 

Albertans and the innovative, economically stable life they 

want to live. Programs and services are offered in a variety of 

ways in order to engage the largest number of community 

members possible. People within the Central Region look to 

RDC to provide quality opportunities for affordable education, 

and the institutional mission, along with RDC’s response to 

Regional Stewardship, reflects the gravity of this responsibility. 

With consideration for community outreach and the needs of 

underrepresented learners, RDC has proven its commitment 

to serving learners throughout the Central Region. Within 

RDC’s academic portfolio, research was conducted to 

develop programs in alignment with learner demand in 

the Central Region, as well as with RDC’s Program Mix.

2.

RURAL LEARNERS

3.

INDIGENOUS LEARNERS*

1.

FOUNDATIONAL LEARNERS

COMMUNITY OUTREACH AND UNDERREPRESENTED LEARNERS
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The College worked with Inclusion Alberta over the 2017/2018 
to pilot the development of meaningful employment 
opportunities for adults with developmental disabilities.  
RDC was granted the Community Inclusion Award for 2018, 
and intends to continue work with Inclusion Alberta on this 
initiative.

In order to validate RDC’s efforts toward student engagement, 
a survey instrument was developed in the LIC and used to 
conduct interviews with LGBTQ and visible minorities in 
Winter 2018; focus groups took place throughout Fall 2018 in 
an effort to continue gathering data. The LIC has established 
an Inclusion Team which is focusing on inclusivity for LGBTQ 
and visible minorities. This is in addition to continued 
partnership with Parents and Friends of Lesbians and Gays 
(PFLAG) and participation in central Alberta Pride Week.

The RDC Student Connect Centre (formerly the Student 
Funding and Awards Off ice)  awarded $1,037,766 in 
scholarships by the close of the 2017/2018 academic year. 
This number reflects a two-year trend of exceeding $1 million 
dollars in bursaries directly benefiting students. 

RDC Residence has 26 Family units with either two or four 
bedrooms available at a very affordable rate for students. In 
this way RDC responds to the needs of students from low-
income backgrounds or families with multiple enrolled 
members to have access to quality education with reduced 
living expenses and limit the financial obligation to the 
household.

RDC continues to be a cornerstone of central Alberta 
community involvement. RDC engaged the Central Region 
community in a variety of different ways including educational 
opportunities, events and connections such as: 

• Engaging business, industry and the community  
for education and training needs

• Community Service Learning Opportunities

• Alumni and Donor Relations

• RDC Open House

• Career Fairs

• Athletics Scholarship Breakfast

• Health and Fitness Classes

• Backpacks to Briefcases

• Summer Camps

• Centre for Innovation in Manufacturing 

• Creative Arts Performances

• Makerspace

• Use of RDC facilities by the community  
(including conferences)

4.

LEARNERS WITH DISABILITIES

7.

COMMUNITY OUTREACH

5.

UNDERREPRESENTED 
 LEARNERS

6.

LEARNERS FROM 
 LOW-INCOME BACKGROUNDS

  

COMMUNITY OUTREACH AND UNDERREPRESENTED LEARNERS

INTERNATIONALIZATION
RDC has created a dynamic, multi-cultural educational environment.

The School of Continuing Education along with the School of Trades and Technologies 
continued to support the National Energy Skills Centre (NESC) in Trinidad and Tobago. This 
project offers Alberta-based trades curriculum, faculty development and administrative 
training to NESC students, faulty and staff. In 2017/2018, efforts focused on streamlining 
processes to enable successful delivery. Three trips occurred in August 2017, December 
2017, and April 2018 with a team of six School of Trades and Technology faculty and 
one School of Continuing Education Program Coordinator administered 247 practical 
assessments, more than 2000 theoretical assessments, and piloted online theoretical 
testing using Respondus Lockdown/Blackboard in Tobago with 12 students.

The Library Information Common has various academic support initiatives in place, 
including providing an English Second Language (ESL) Tutor to help develop the 
communication skills of ESL students, many of whom are often new Canadians. The overall 
purpose of the ESL tutoring service is to help students improve their understanding of 
concepts and processes related to their academic course work by providing one-on-one 
and small group tutorial sessions. Emphasis is on building academic language proficiency 
and includes a mix of grammar instruction, vocabulary development, and conversation/
pronunciation. In terms of demographics, the ESL tutor worked with students from 15 
different countries (Mexico, Brazil, Ukraine, Philippines, Vietnam, Ethiopia, Sudan, Somalia, 
Eritrea, Nigeria, Libya, Syria, Egypt, South Korea and Afghanistan), with various educational 
backgrounds (everything from no formal schooling to Master’s degrees). Students were 
registered in academic upgrading, diploma, trades and open studies programs.

In partnership with Central Alberta Refugee Effort (C.A.R.E.) and with funding from the 
Government of Alberta, the School of Continuing Education developed and piloted a new 
Trauma-informed ESL Educator’s Certificate. The program consists of two 15-hour course 
modules that can be delivered both face-to-face and online. A pilot program resulted in 10 
ESL instructors from C.A.R.E. completing the program. 

The partnership developed between RDC’s Social Work program and the Social Work 
Department of Sree Sankaracharya University of Sanskrit in India did not result in any 
additional projects following the submission of a final report concerning discrimination 
against women in educational institutions during Fall 2016 term. The timing of courses 
offered precluded further collaboration during the 2017/2018 academic year. RDC’s Social 
Work department plans to explore resuming this opportunity during the Winter 2019 term.
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PRIORITY PROJECTS PROGRESS MADE IN LAST 12 MONTHS

CIP #1 
Furniture, Equipment and Technology for the  
Gary W. Harris Centre Canada Games Centre

Status: 
Near Completion

Expected Completion Date:  October 31, 2018

In 2017/2018, the furniture, equipment, and information 
technology was procured for the Gary W. Harris  
Canada Games Centre. This furniture, equipment,  
and informat ion technology wi l l  suppor t  the 
Kinesiology and Sport Studies, and Occupational and 
Physical Therapist Assistant programs in the Canada 
Games Centre.

Based on the feedback from the ministries of Advanced 
Education and Infrastructure, RDC has worked to identify 
furniture, equipment, and information technology items 
that are specifically required to support educational 
program delivery. Furniture, equipment, and information 
technology items not required for educational program 
delivery will need to be funded separately.

A Design/Build team consisting of two general 
contractors and an architectural and engineering firm 
has completed construction of the Canada Games 
Centre, and substantial performance was achieved 
by June, 2018. The project ended within the targeted 
budget. 

CIP #2 
High Priority Infrastructure Systems Renewal

Status: 
Evaluation and Engineering

Expected Completion Date:  End of 2018  
(Electrical Study), 2022/2023 (Replacement of High 
Priority Electrical and Mechanical Infrastructure)

Evaluations and engineering activities took place to 
inform the electrical infrastructure renewal process and 
an arc flash coordination study was completed.

PRIORITY PROJECTS PROGRESS MADE IN LAST 12 MONTHS

CIP #3 
Development of a Space Repurposing Strategy 

Status: 
Planning

Expected Completion Date:  2020

Requests for Information from Senior Leaders were 
compiled and synthesized by the Facilities Planning 
Advisory Committee (FPAC). Principles and objectives 
were developed as part of the review, to assist in project 
prioritization. A preliminary list of priority projects was 
established, based on three categories: 1) learning 
spaces, 2) service spaces, and 3) work spaces. Priority 
was given to categories 1 and 2.   

The following tools were being developed by Campus 
Management, the Centre for Teaching and Learning, 
and Strategic Planning and Analysis:

• Space utilization analysis

• Future trends in class sizes

• Office space inventory/map

• Learning space opportunity map

Draft  project char ters and scenar ios were also 
completed for the identified priority projects. These 
scenarios/conceptual plans wil l  be f inal ized in 
2018/2019.  

CIP #5 
New Student Residences and 2019 Canada Winter 
Games Athlete Housing

Status: 
Construction

Expected Completion Date:  February 2019

The planned portion of construction for 2017/2018 was 
completed on schedule. Completion of the residence is 
scheduled for February 2019.

CAPITAL PLAN

CAPITAL PLAN
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EVERGREEN

IT Services made significant improvements in the 
maturity of the reporting processes around its 
evergreen program.  A more mature inventory with 
device life span predictions is available to guide 
budget decision making and evergreen replacement 
processes.

CLOUD SERVICES

RDC completed the replacement of its on premise 
email solution with Office 365.  Adoption of additional 
Office 365 services for various use cases continues 
to expand.  Several projects were approved by EIT in 
2017/2018 that will use cloud services in 2018/2019 
deployments.

CYBER SECURITY

In 2017/2018, RDC implemented several significant 
improvements in RDC’s cyber-security posture.  The 
adoption of a Domain Name Service (DNS) firewall 
and activation of an intrusion prevention system 
was completed.  A phish training program for 
RDC employees was implemented and significant 
improvements were noted in their ability to recognize 
and avoid threats. A training program on digital risk 
was rolled out and made available to all college 
staff. A Cyber Incident Response Plan was created to 
support significant cyber security incidents. Work has 
proceeded on a provincial shared procurement for 
security services.

CLASSROOM TECHNOLOGY

In 2017/2018, the classroom technologies standard 
at Red Deer College was developed. This standard 
was been deployed in the new Gary W. Harris Canada 
Games Centre and will be the foundation for new 
classroom deployment projects. Significant usability 
and reliability improvements are anticipated based 
on the new standard.  Classroom evergreen inventory 
and a new collaborative decision making processes 
enabled strategic decisions on classroom technology 
upgrades.  

ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING

Work proceeded on several significant system 
upgrades. Banner 9 upgrade completion is on track 
for December 2018.  Upgrades to RDC’s enterprise 
reporting tool, Cognos, also continued and planned 
milestones were achieved.

IT SERVICES CLIENT SERVICES

The implementation of a new Information Technology 
Services Service Management tool has enabled better 
tracking of incidents and work requests. 

GARY W. HARRIS CANADA GAMES CENTRE

The completion of the network infrastructure and the 
implementation of the new classroom technology 
systems for the new centre was a major achievement 
in 2017/2018. 

SHARED SERVICES

RDC has become much more involved in provincial 
shared service discussions and selection processes 
(i.e., Cyber Security).  

Red Deer  Col lege has created a 
strategic, comprehensive vision for 
growth.  With the suppor t of  the 
Government of Alberta, RDC will use 
the foundation we have established to 
become the university of our future. 
We will focus on innovative, dynamic 
programs and oppor tunit ies  for 
learners and community members.

As a comprehensive regional teaching 
university, RDC will continue to offer 
a full spectrum of credentials from 
apprenticeships and certificates to 
diplomas, post-diploma certificates, 
collaborative degrees and four-year 
degrees. 

The learning opportunities RDC has 
identified in the Ten-Year Program 
Mix Plan are already becoming a 
reality. RDC has created a framework 
for  cur rent  and future  lear n ing 
opportunities. In 2018-19, seven new 
programs have been launched: RDC’s 
Bachelor of Applied Arts in Animation 
and Visual Effects, Bachelor of Science 
in Psychology (a University of Calgary 
collaborative degree), Justice Studies 
D i p l o m a ,  P r e - H e a l t h  S c i e n c e s 
Certificate, eLearning Instructor Post-
Diploma Certificate and Adult & Higher 
Education Instructor Post-Diploma 
Certificate. RDC has received approval 
to launch our second four-year degree, 
the Bachelor of Applied Arts in Film, 
Theatre, and Live Entertainment, in 
September 2019. 

Hundreds of students have started 
t h e s e  n e w  p r o g r a m s ,  w h i c h 
demonstrate the breadth of unique, 
relevant learning opportunities that 
RDC will continue to develop. Our 
partners have been an important part 
of this program development. Looking 
ahead, they will also be critical in work 
integrated learning, a pillar of our new 
university, which will involve co-ops, 
practicums and internships to ensure 
learners are career-ready. 

Modern facilities are another key 
component of RDC’s ability to deliver 
programs. Our expanding College 
footprint is evidence of the importance 
we place on institutional readiness for 
growth. In August 2018, RDC held the 
grand opening of the Gary W. Harris 
Canada Games Centre/Centre des Jeux 
du Canada Gary W. Harris. Thousands 
of individuals had the opportunity to 
tour the facility and understand how 
it – along with our new Residence, 
which will be complete in early 2019 
– represent the physical realization of 
RDC’s future. 

S tudents ,  s tudent-ath letes  and 
community partners were the first 
to use and benefit from the building, 
starting in September. From February 
15 until March 3, 2019, the Centre 
and all of RDC will be featured on 
the national stage during the 2019 
Canada Winter Games. RDC is proud to 
partner with the 2019 Canada Winter 
Games Host Society and The City of 
Red Deer for this major event. Our 
College will host five of 16 competition 
e v e n t s ,  w h i l e  a l s o  h o u s i n g  a l l 
3,600 competitors in the Athletes’ 
Village and serving as the Games 
Operational Hub. These once-in-a 
generation opportunities will provide 
volunteering, learning and community 
building for RDC’s students, faculty and 
staff, while also leaving a lasting legacy 
in our region.  

Red Deer College is also creating a 
legacy of sustainability and innovation 
through the Al ternat ive  Energy 
Initiative, a multi-faceted undertaking 
t h a t  p r o m o t e s  e n v i r o n m e n t a l 
stewardship through the application 
of sustainable and energy efficient 
technologies. This initiative is possible 
because  o f  the  G over nment  o f 
Canada’s Post-Secondary Institutions 
Strategic Investment Fund,  with 
m a t c h i n g  i n v e s t m e n t  b y  R D C . 
Addit ional par tnerships,  such as 

Energy Efficiency Alberta, have allowed 
us to dream big and achieve incredible 
i n n o v a t i o n  a n d  s u s t a i n a b i l i t y 
milestones.

Our goal  is  to achieve ‘net zero,’ 
meaning all the energy RDC’s main 
campus requires to power buildings 
and infrastructure will be produced on 
campus from sustainable resources. At 
this time, we are more than halfway 
towards this important goal. A variety 
of tactics have allowed us to achieve, 
including the installation of more than 
3,600 photovoltaic solar panels on our 
buildings, as well as the development 
of a combined heat and power unit.

RDC has recently completed our new 
Alternative Energy Lab, one of the key 
components of the larger sustainability 
initiative. The lab will be used for 
learning and applied research by more 
than 1,000 students each year as they 
connect with instructors, industry and 
research partners. In addition, our new 
Residence, with 145 studio suites, will 
meet the needs of learners living on 
main campus. This facility will be clad 
with vertically installed solar panels, 
showcasing RDC as one of the leaders 
in Canada for this type of innovation. 

This  is  a  t ime of  unprecedented 
growth at Red Deer College. It is the 
culmination of extensive collaboration, 
planning and research, and it is the 
turning point to our new future as 
a comprehensive regional teaching 
university. As our institution evolves, 
we wi l l  cont inue to ensure that 
excellence, leadership and innovation 
are the principles on which we build. 
We will continue to work diligently to 
fulfill our mandate, serving learners 
and community members from across 
the region and beyond.  

 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
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RDC BOARD ENDS 
STATEMENTS

E-1 Mission of Red Deer College

Because of Red Deer College: The intellectual, economic, cultural and social 
development of Central Alberta is strengthened and enriched while demonstrating 
good stewardship.

E-2 Learners Have a Foundation of Knowledge, Applied Skills and Attitudes

Learners have a foundation of knowledge, applied skills and attitudes that prepare 
them for multiple careers and lifelong learning.

1. Learners develop adaptive, creative and critical thinking skills.
2. Learners develop cultural and global awareness.
3. Learners have the opportunity to continue their learning and/or seamlessly 

transfer to other post-secondary institutions.
4. An increasing proportion of learners can obtain their postsecondary education, 

including degrees, in the region.
5. People with diverse needs have access to learning.

E-3 Employers Have Access to a Prepared Workforce

Employers have access to a prepared workforce.

Learners have the theoretical knowledge, applied skills and professional attitudes that 
meet employer and workforce needs.

E-4 Creation of New Knowledge, New Enterprise and New Intellectual Property

New knowledge, new enterprises, and new intellectual property are created.

E-5 Opportunities for Lifelong Learning

People and communities we serve have opportunities for lifelong learning.

People and communities have opportunities for cultural, wellness, athletic, social and 
intellectual experiences.

Businesses and non-profit organizations have access to education and/or training 
opportunities.

ACTUALS

* Both revenue and expenditures exclude Ancillary, Special Purpose & Trust  
and Sponsored Research.

** Under PSAS disclosure, grant revenue includes amortization of deferred 
contributions attributed to grant funded assets.

OPERATIONAL REVENUE*

70 million

60 million

50 million

40 million

30 million

20 million

10 million

$63,223,675

Grants Tuition & Fees

$14,786,638

Other

$19,826,459

OPERATIONAL EXPENSES**

70 million

60 million

50 million

40 million

30 million

20 million

10 million

$37,786,463

Instructional Academic 
Support & 

Student Services

$38,071,589

Instructional 
Operations & 

Facilities

$20,734,597

1,359 PEOPLE 
EMPLOYED IN 2017/18

2017/2018  
TUITION FEE  
PER CREDIT$110.50

$1,037,766
WERE DISPERSED BY THE  

RED DEER COLLEGE FOUNDATION AND AWARDS OFFICE

991 AWA R D S ,  TOTA L I N G

The number 
of acres that 
RDC's land 

encompasses

DOWNTOWN CAMPUS 
Home of RDC’s Donald  
School of Business 
41,000 ft2 of leased space

WELIKOKLAD EVENT CENTRE 
15,847 ft2

BUILDING AREA 
923,790 ft2

RESIDENCE 
ACCOMMODATION

approx. beds614
beds for  

single students

550

family units
26

+

GEOGRAPHIC SOURCE 
OF STUDENTS 
(BY CENSUS DIVISION)

Central Alberta (64%)

Northern Alberta (17%)

Southern Alberta (12%)

Outside Alberta (6%)

PROPORTION OF 
STUDENTS BY AGE

15-19 Year Olds (25%)

20-24 Year Olds (36%)

25+ Year Olds (39%)

FLE ENROLMENT BY 
PROGRAM AREA

Applied Degree/Transfer (42%)

Diploma/Certificate (34%)

Trades/Industrial (16%)

Adult Development/Other (7%)
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To	the	Board	of	Governors	of	Red	Deer	College	
	
Report	on	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	
I	have	audited	the	accompanying	consolidated	financial	statements	of	Red	Deer	College,	which	comprise	
the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	June	30,	2018,	and	the	consolidated	statements	of	
operations,	change	in	net	financial	assets	(net	debt),	remeasurement	gains	and	losses	and	cash	flows	for	
the	year	then	ended,	and	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	
information.	
	
Management’s	Responsibility	for	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	
Management	is	responsible	for	the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	these	consolidated	financial	
statements	in	accordance	with	Canadian	public	sector	accounting	standards,	and	for	such	internal	
control	as	management	determines	is	necessary	to	enable	the	preparation	of	consolidated	financial	
statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.	
	
Auditor’s	Responsibility	
My	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	these	consolidated	financial	statements	based	on	my	audit.	
I	conducted	my	audit	in	accordance	with	Canadian	generally	accepted	auditing	standards.	Those	
standards	require	that	I	comply	with	ethical	requirements	and	plan	and	perform	the	audit	to	obtain	
reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	consolidated	financial	statements	are	free	from	material	
misstatement.	
	
An	audit	involves	performing	procedures	to	obtain	audit	evidence	about	the	amounts	and	disclosures	in	
the	consolidated	financial	statements.	The	procedures	selected	depend	on	the	auditor’s	judgment,	
including	the	assessment	of	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	
whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.	In	making	those	risk	assessments,	the	auditor	considers	internal	control	
relevant	to	the	entity’s	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	in	
order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	in	the	circumstances,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	
expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	entity’s	internal	control.	An	audit	also	includes	
evaluating	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	
estimates	made	by	management,	as	well	as	evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of	the	consolidated	
financial	statements.	
	
I	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	I	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	my	
audit	opinion.	
	
Opinion	
In	my	opinion,	the	consolidated	financial	statements	present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects,	the	financial	
position	of	Red	Deer	College	as	at	June	30,	2018,	and	the	results	of	its	operations,	its	remeasurement	
gains	and	losses,	its	change	from	net	financial	assets	to	net	debt,	and	its	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	
ended	in	accordance	with	Canadian	public	sector	accounting	standards.	
	
	
	
	
[Original	signed	by	W.	Doug	Wylie	FCPA,	FCMA,	ICD.D]	
Auditor	General	
	
October	16,	2018	
Edmonton,	Alberta	

RED DEER COLLEGE 
STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

The consolidated financial statements of Red Deer College have been prepared by management in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards. The consolidated financial statements present fairly the financial 
position of Red Deer College as at June 30, 2018 and the results of its operations, remeasurement gains and losses, 
changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended.  

In fulfilling its responsibilities and recognizing the limits inherent in all systems, management has developed and 
maintains a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance that Red Deer College assets are 
safeguarded from loss and that the accounting records are a reliable basis for the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

The Board of Governors is responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements, and 
overseeing management’s performance of its financial reporting responsibilities. 

The Board of Governors carries out its responsibility for review of the consolidated financial statements principally 
through its Audit Committee. With the exception of the President, all members of the Audit Committee are not 
employees of Red Deer College. The Audit Committee meets with management and the external auditors to discuss 
the results of audit examinations and financial reporting matters. The external auditors have full access to the Audit 
Committee, with and without the presence of management. 

These consolidated financial statements have been reported on by the Auditor General of Alberta, the auditor 
appointed under the Post-secondary Learning Act. The Independent Auditor’s Report outlines the scope of the audit 
and provides the audit opinion on the fairness of presentation of the information in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

 

 

 
 
                       Joel Ward, President                                        Jim Brinkhurst, Vice President, College Services, CFO 

 

[Original signed by:] [Original signed by:]

[Original signed by W. Doug Wylie FCPA, FCMA, ICD.D]

Auditor General

 

October 16, 2018

Edmonton, Alberta



84  |  RED DEER COLLEGE 2017/2018 ANNUAL REPORT   |   85

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2018

2018 2017
Actual Actual

Financial Assets excluding portfolio investments restricted
for endowments

Cash 12,968,345$           2,884,134$              
Portfolio investments - non endowment (note 4) 56,535,619             75,846,442              
Accounts receivable (note 16) 7,549,196               9,381,519                

77,053,160             88,112,095              

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 27,687,730             24,100,212              
Employee future benefit liabilities (note 7) 2,430,550               2,197,950                
Debt (note 8) 73,683,012             56,517,932              
Deferred revenue (note 9) 26,218,307             24,843,885              

130,019,599           107,659,979            

Net debt, excluding portfolio investments (52,966,439)            (19,547,884)            
restricted for endowments

Portfolio investments - restricted for endowments (note 4) 26,206,708             25,313,589              

(Net debt)/Net financial assets (26,759,731)            5,765,705                

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (note 6) 188,999,482           156,784,430            
Inventories of supplies 70,727                    73,457                     
Prepaid expenses 998,370                  993,767                   

190,068,579           157,851,654            

Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions 163,308,848           163,617,359            

Spent deferred capital contributions (note 10) 104,882,869           105,935,379            

Net assets (note 11) 58,425,979$           57,681,980$            

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus (note 11) 53,375,122$           52,041,293$            
Accumulated remeasurement gains (note 11) 5,050,857               5,640,687                

58,425,979$           57,681,980$            

Contractual rights (note 13)
Contractual obligations (note 14)

Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 23)

   
Chair, Board of Governors  President 

 

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

2018
Budget 

2018
Actual

2017
Actual

(note 22)
REVENUES

Government of Alberta grants (note 20) 62,485,000$   64,140,613$      62,853,015$       
Federal and other government grants (note 20) 962,000          692,619             1,152,485           
Sales of services and products 11,193,000     11,274,678        11,309,624         
Student tuition and fees 20,558,000     19,826,459        20,846,048         
Donations and other grants 5,558,000       5,202,328          5,883,653           
Investment income (note 15) 2,000,000       2,382,486          2,372,446           

102,756,000   103,519,183      104,417,271       

EXPENSES (note 17) 

Instruction 37,949,000     37,786,463        38,929,040         
Academic Support & Student Services 20,282,000     20,734,597        21,404,761         
Facilities Operations 20,772,000     20,862,703        18,283,994         
Institutional Support 16,950,000     17,208,886        16,964,434         
Ancillary  Services 4,768,000       4,649,321          4,371,345           
Sponsored Research 932,000          649,205             1,003,946           
Special Purpose & Trust 1,103,000       884,720             962,282              

102,756,000   102,775,895      101,919,802       

Annual operating surplus -                  743,288             2,497,469           

Endowment contributions (note 11) 380,000          98,543               370,054              
Endowment capitalized investment income (note 11) 320,000          491,998             348,148              

700,000          590,541             718,202              

Annual surplus 700,000          1,333,829          3,215,671           

Accumulated operating surplus from operations, beginning of year 52,041,293     52,041,293        48,825,622         

Accumulated operating surplus from operations, end of year (note 11) 52,741,293$   53,375,122$      52,041,293$       

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2018

2018 2017
Actual Actual

Financial Assets excluding portfolio investments restricted
for endowments

Cash 12,968,345$           2,884,134$              
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restricted for endowments

Portfolio investments - restricted for endowments (note 4) 26,206,708             25,313,589              
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Prepaid expenses 998,370                  993,767                   

190,068,579           157,851,654            
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Net assets (note 11) 58,425,979$           57,681,980$            

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus (note 11) 53,375,122$           52,041,293$            
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Contractual rights (note 13)
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Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 23)

   
Chair, Board of Governors  President 

 

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2018
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Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 23)

   
Chair, Board of Governors  President 

 

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

[Original signed by:] [Original signed by:]
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RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2018

2018 2017
Actual Actual

Financial Assets excluding portfolio investments restricted
for endowments

Cash 12,968,345$           2,884,134$              
Portfolio investments - non endowment (note 4) 56,535,619             75,846,442              
Accounts receivable (note 16) 7,549,196               9,381,519                

77,053,160             88,112,095              

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 27,687,730             24,100,212              
Employee future benefit liabilities (note 7) 2,430,550               2,197,950                
Debt (note 8) 73,683,012             56,517,932              
Deferred revenue (note 9) 26,218,307             24,843,885              

130,019,599           107,659,979            

Net debt, excluding portfolio investments (52,966,439)            (19,547,884)            
restricted for endowments

Portfolio investments - restricted for endowments (note 4) 26,206,708             25,313,589              

(Net debt)/Net financial assets (26,759,731)            5,765,705                

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (note 6) 188,999,482           156,784,430            
Inventories of supplies 70,727                    73,457                     
Prepaid expenses 998,370                  993,767                   

190,068,579           157,851,654            

Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions 163,308,848           163,617,359            

Spent deferred capital contributions (note 10) 104,882,869           105,935,379            

Net assets (note 11) 58,425,979$           57,681,980$            

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus (note 11) 53,375,122$           52,041,293$            
Accumulated remeasurement gains (note 11) 5,050,857               5,640,687                

58,425,979$           57,681,980$            

Contractual rights (note 13)
Contractual obligations (note 14)

Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 23)

   
Chair, Board of Governors  President 

 

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2018

2018 2017
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Accumulated remeasurement gains (note 11) 5,050,857               5,640,687                

58,425,979$           57,681,980$            

Contractual rights (note 13)
Contractual obligations (note 14)

Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 23)

   
Chair, Board of Governors  President 

 

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

RED DEER COLLEGE 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (NET DEBT)
AS AT JUNE 30, 2018

Budget 2018 2017

Annual surplus 700,000$           1,333,829$                3,215,671$               
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (note 6) (54,200,000)       (41,706,217)               (45,388,175)              
Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets 125,876                     36,295                      
Amortization of tangible capital assets (note 6) 10,000,000        9,413,197                  7,322,127                 
Gain on sale of tangible capital assets (47,909)                      (8,251)                       
Decrease in inventories of supplies 2,730                         5,013                        
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (4,601)                        145,134                    
Change in spent deferred capital contributions
   less expended capital recognized as revenue (note 10) 2,400,000          (1,052,511)                 11,320,313               
Change in net accumulated remeasurement gains (589,830)                    (552,069)                   
Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (net debt) (41,100,000)$     (32,525,436)$             (23,903,942)$            

Net financial assets, beginning of year 5,765,705$        5,765,705$                29,669,647$             

(Net debt)/Net financial assets, end of year (35,334,295)$     (26,759,731)$             5,765,705$               

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

2018 2017

OPERATING TRANSACTIONS
Annual surplus 1,333,829$                 3,215,671$                 
Add (deduct) non-cash items:

Amortization of tangible capital assets 9,413,197                   7,322,122                   
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets (47,909)                      (8,245)                        
 Capital gifts in kind received (148,090)                    -                                 
Change in employee future benefit liabilities 232,600                      372,800                      
Expended capital recognized as revenue (note 10) (5,531,869)                 (4,856,677)                 
Gain on sale of portfolio investments (1,730,005)                 (1,728,800)                 

Total non-cash items 2,187,924                   1,101,200                   

1,832,322                   12,499,993                 
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,587,518                   6,034,446                   
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue 1,524,810                   (11,697,682)               
Decrease in inventories of supplies 2,730                          5,013                          
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (4,601)                        145,134                      
Cash provided by operating transactions 10,464,532$               11,303,775$               

CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 125,876$                    36,295$                      
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (41,558,127)               (45,388,175)               
Cash (applied to) capital transactions (41,432,251)$             (45,351,880)$             

INVESTING TRANSACTIONS
Purchases of portfolio investments (96,624,188)$             (174,515,229)$           
Proceeds on sale of portfolio investments 116,031,681               141,226,996               
Cash provided by (applied to) investing transactions 19,407,493$               (33,288,233)$             

FINANCING TRANSACTIONS
Debt - repayment (334,921)                    (350,978)                    
Debt - new financing 17,500,000                 52,000,000                 
Increase in spent deferred capital contributions, 

less expended capital recognized as revenue 4,479,358                   16,176,990                 
Cash provided by financing transactions 21,644,437$               67,826,012$               

INCREASE IN CASH 10,084,211$               489,674$                    

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,884,134$                 2,394,460$                 

CASH, END OF YEAR 12,968,345$               2,884,134$                 

Decrease in accounts receivable

----------The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements---------
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RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2018

2018 2017
Actual Actual

Financial Assets excluding portfolio investments restricted
for endowments

Cash 12,968,345$           2,884,134$              
Portfolio investments - non endowment (note 4) 56,535,619             75,846,442              
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Deferred revenue (note 9) 26,218,307             24,843,885              

130,019,599           107,659,979            

Net debt, excluding portfolio investments (52,966,439)            (19,547,884)            
restricted for endowments

Portfolio investments - restricted for endowments (note 4) 26,206,708             25,313,589              

(Net debt)/Net financial assets (26,759,731)            5,765,705                

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (note 6) 188,999,482           156,784,430            
Inventories of supplies 70,727                    73,457                     
Prepaid expenses 998,370                  993,767                   

190,068,579           157,851,654            

Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions 163,308,848           163,617,359            

Spent deferred capital contributions (note 10) 104,882,869           105,935,379            

Net assets (note 11) 58,425,979$           57,681,980$            

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus (note 11) 53,375,122$           52,041,293$            
Accumulated remeasurement gains (note 11) 5,050,857               5,640,687                

58,425,979$           57,681,980$            

Contractual rights (note 13)
Contractual obligations (note 14)

Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 23)

   
Chair, Board of Governors  President 

 

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF REMEASUREMENT GAINS AND LOSSES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018  

2018 2017

Accumulated remeasurement gains at beginning of year 5,640,687$      6,192,756$      

Unrealized gains attributable to:

Portfolio investments - non-endowment (note 4) 721,993           878,729           

Amounts reclassified to statement of operations:

Portfolio investments - non-endowment (note 4) (1,311,823)       (1,430,798)       

Accumulated remeasurement gains at end of year 5,050,857$      5,640,687$      

----------The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements----------

RED DEER COLLEGE 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

 
1 

1. Authority and Purpose 
 
The Board of Governors of Red Deer College is a corporation which manages and operates Red Deer College 
(“the College”) under the Post-Secondary Learning Act (Alberta). All members of the Board of Governors are 
appointed by either the Lieutenant Governor in Council or the Minister of Advanced Education, with the exception 
of the President, who is an ex officio member. Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, Campus Alberta Sector 
Regulation, the College is a comprehensive community College offering diploma, certificate, applied degree and 
collaborative degree programs, as well as a full range of trades and apprenticeship and continuing education 
programs and activities. The College is a registered charity, and under section 149 of the Income Tax Act 
(Canada), is exempt from the payment of income tax.   

 
 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices 
 
 

a) General – Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) and Use of Estimates 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector 
Accounting Standards (PSAS). The measurement of certain assets and liabilities is contingent upon future 
events; therefore, the preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates, 
which may vary from actual results. College management uses judgment to determine such estimates.  
Employee future benefit liabilities, amortization of tangible capital assets and deferred revenue are the most 
significant items based on estimates. In management’s opinion, the resulting estimates are within 
reasonable limits of materiality and are in accordance with the significant accounting policies summarized 
below. These significant accounting policies are presented to assist the reader in evaluating these financial 
statements and, together with the following notes, should be considered an integral part of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

 
 

b) Valuation of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

The College’s financial assets and liabilities are generally measured as follows: 

Financial Statement Component   Measurement   

Cash and cash equivalents   Cost or amortized cost   

Portfolio investments    Fair value and amortized cost 

Accounts receivable    Amortized cost   

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  Amortized cost   

Debt      Amortized cost   

 

Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities are recognized 
in the Consolidated Statement of Re-measurement Gains and Losses except for the restricted portions 
which are recognized as a liability under deferred revenue. When the restricted nature of a financial 
instrument and any related changes in fair value create a liability, unrealized gains and losses are 
recognized as deferred revenue. 

All financial assets are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets are impaired, impairment 
losses are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. A write-down of a portfolio investment to 
reflect a loss in value is not reversed for a subsequent increase in value.  

For financial assets and liabilities measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is used 
to determine interest revenue or expense. Transaction costs are a component of cost for financial 
instruments measured using cost or amortized cost. Transaction costs are expensed for financial 
instruments measured at fair value.  
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RED DEER COLLEGE 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 
 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

 

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services 
have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 
 
Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations: 
 
Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 
 
Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets. 

 
Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is 
eligible to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in 
the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 
 
In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such 
value can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded 
at the carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each 
year beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services 
is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably 
determined. 
 
 
Endowment Donations 

 
Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  
 
Investment Income 
 
Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized gains or losses on the sale of 
portfolio investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted 
transfers, donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Accumulated Re-
measurement Gains and Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or losses 
are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 
 
The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability.  Realized investment 
income allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 
 
 
 

RED DEER COLLEGE 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 
 
Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 
 

  
d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 
 
Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   
 
Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 
 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long-term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

 
Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 
 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 
 
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 
 
Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 
 
The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, is amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives as follows: 

Buildings, infrastructure & green energy 15 - 40 years

Land improvements 12 years

Furniture & equipment 5 - 20 years

Computer hardware and software 3 - 5 years

Other 10 years  

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer contribute to the 
College’s ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future economic benefits associated 
with the tangible capital assets are less than their net book value.  The net write-downs are accounted for as 
expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

Contributed capital assets are recorded as revenues at their fair market value on the date of donation, 
except in circumstances where fair value cannot be reasonably determined, which are then recognized at 
nominal value.  Transfers of capital assets from related parties are recorded at the carrying value. 

Intangible assets, works of art, historical treasures and collections are expensed when acquired and not 
recognized as tangible capital assets because a reasonable estimate of the future benefits associated with 
such property cannot be made. 

 
f) Foreign Currency Translation 

Financial assets and liabilities recorded in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian dollars at the 
yearend exchange rate. Revenues & expenses are translated at average weekly exchange rates throughout 
the year. In the period of settlement realized gains or losses from these translations are included in 
investment income. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses.  In the period of settlement, foreign exchange gains and losses are 
reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of Operations, and the cumulative amount of re-measurement 
gains and losses is reversed in the Consolidated Statement of Re-measurement Gains and Losses 

 

g) Employee Future Benefits 

Pension 
The College participates with other employers in the Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP). The pension 
plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan that provide pensions for the College’s participating 
employees based on years of service and earnings.   
 
The College does not have sufficient plan information on the LAPP to follow the standards for defined 
benefit accounting, and therefore follows the standards for defined contribution accounting. Accordingly, 
pension expense recorded for the LAPP is comprised of employer contributions to the plan that are required 
for its employees during the year; which are calculated based on actuarially pre-determined amounts that 
are expected to provide the plan’s future benefits.  
 
Supplementary Employees Retirement Plan (SERP) 
The College maintains a supplementary pension plan to eligible staff members. The pension expense for 
defined benefit SERP is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method prorated on service. 
Actuarial gains or losses on the accrued benefit obligation are amortized over the expected average 
remaining service life. The pension expense for the defined benefit supplementary retirement plan is the 
employer’s current year contribution to the plan as calculated in accordance with the plan rules. 
 
Sabbatical Leave  
The College participates in paid sabbatical leaves for faculty association members.  In order to be granted 
sabbatical leave, a member must submit an application for approval, per their respective collective 
agreements.  Refer to note 7 for amounts recorded in these consolidated financial statements for sabbatical 
liabilities. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 
 
Medical Leave 
The College provides paid medical leave to a maximum of 90 calendar days.  This amount is recorded as an 
expenditure on the Consolidated Statement of Operations when the payments are disbursed.  After this 
period, an employee may be eligible for long-term disability coverage per the long-term disability plan with 
the College’s carrier. 
 
Local Authority Pension Plan (LAPP) Premiums for Long-term Disability Recipients  
Membership in the Long-Term Disability Plan is mandatory for all full-time employees and for some part time 
employees, per their respective collective agreement or negotiated contract, after 12 months of employment.  
An employee on long term disability leave is required to pay 100% of their benefit premium costs and their 
portion of LAPP premiums as set by the LAPP. The College is responsible for paying the employer’s portion 
of these premiums. This amount is charged to expense in full when the event occurs which obligates the 
College to pay the premiums.  The College consults with an actuary to assist with determining the future 
obligation based on the age and number of participants on the Long Term Disability Plan each year. Refer to 
note 7 for amounts recorded in these consolidated financial statements for these liabilities. 
 

 
(h)  Basis of Consolidation 
 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on a consolidated basis and include the accounts of 
Red Deer College Foundation. 

 
Proportionate consolidation method is used to record the College’s proportionate share (50%) of each 
financial statement component of the following joint venture: 
Campus Alberta Central is a joint venture created with Olds College under the Central Alberta College- 
Community Partnership Agreement to provide adult learning services in Central Alberta. This partnership is 
not material to the College’s consolidated financial statements; therefore, separate condensed financial 
information is not presented. 

 
(i) Expense by Function 
  
 The College uses the following categories of functions on its Consolidated Statement of Operations. 
  
 Instruction 
 Expenses related to all programming and training including both credit and non-credit. 
 
 Academic Support & Student Services 
 Expenses relating to activities directly supporting the academic functions. 
 
 Facilities Operations 
 Expenses relating to the maintenance of the facilities & grounds including building maintenance, utilities, 

renovations and amortization. 
  

Institutional Support 
 Expenses related to supporting the operations of the College.  
 

Ancillary Services 
 Expenses related to services provided to the College community outside of the normal functions of 

instruction and research. Ancillary services include: child care services, student residences and parking 
services.  

 
Sponsored Research 

 Expenses for research activities funded by contracts with and/or grants from external organizations and 
undertaken with the College to produce research outcomes. 

 
Special Purpose & Trust 

 Expenses related to fundraising and from proportionate consolidation of joint venture. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 
 
 
(j) Funds and Reserves 
 

Certain amounts, as approved by the Board of Governors, are set aside in accumulated surplus for future 
operating and capital purposes. These amounts are not available for other purposes without the approval of 
the Board and do not have interest allocated to them. Transfers to/from funds and reserves are an 
adjustment to the respective fund when approved. 
 

(k)  Future Accounting Changes 
 

 
In June 2015, the Public Sector Accounting Board issued PS 3430 Restructuring transactions. This 
accounting standard is effective for fiscal years starting on or after April 1, 2018. PS 3430 Restructuring 
transactions define a restructuring transaction and establishes standards for recognizing and measuring 
assets and liabilities transferred in a restructuring transaction. 
 
 In March 2018, the Public Sector Accounting Board issued PS 3480 Asset Retirement Obligations. This 
accounting standard is effective for fiscal years starting on or April 1, 2021. PS 3280 Asset Retirement 
Obligations provides guidance on how to account for and report a liability for retirement of a tangible capital 
asset.  
 
Management is currently assessing the impact of these new standards on the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
 

3. Adoption of new accounting standards 
 

The Institution has prospectively adopted standards from April 1, 2017: 
 

 PS 2200 – Related party disclosures defines a related party and identifies disclosures for 
related parties and related party transactions, including key management personnel and close 
family members. 

 PS 3420 – Inter-entity transactions, establishes standards on how to account for and report 
transactions between public sector entities that comprise a government’s reporting entity from 
both a provider and recipient perspective. 

 PS 3210 – Assets provides guidance for applying the definition of assets set out in PS 1000, 
Financial statement concepts, and establishes general disclosure standards for assets. 

 PS 3320 – Contingent assets defines and establishes disclosure standards for contingent 
assets. 

 PS 3380 – Contractual rights defines and establishes disclosure standards on contractual 
rights. 

 
The effect of adopting these standards resulted in additional disclosure of contractual rights (note 13) and 
identification of the new disclosure requirements for related party transactions (note 19). 
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4. Portfolio Investments 
 

2018 2017

Portfolio investments - non endowment 56,535,619$        75,846,442$   

Portfolio investments - restricted for endowments 26,206,708          25,313,589      

82,742,327$        101,160,031$  
 

 The composition of portfolio investments measured at fair value are as follows: 
    
Level 2 Investments 

2018 2017

Investments at fair value

Treasury bills 15,674,632$       31,018,128$       

Pooled funds:

    Canadian equity 4,097,037           3,903,790           

    International equity 10,663,722         12,085,666         

    Global equity 26,206,708         25,313,590         

    Canadian bonds 15,447,241         15,256,553         

    Global bonds 1,459,829           1,599,420           

Canadian bonds 9,193,158           11,982,884         

Total investments 82,742,327$       101,160,031$      
 
The fair value measurements are those derived from:  
Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets;   
Level 2 – Fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included with level 1 
that are observable for the assets, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).  
Level 3 – Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the assets 
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).   
 
 
The College has policies and procedures in place governing asset mix, diversification, exposure limits, credit 
quality and performance measurement. The President has delegated authority for oversight of the College’s 
investment portfolio and an Investment Committee, an advisory subcommittee, provides reports and 
recommendations on the portfolio to the President.   The Investment Committee meets regularly to monitor 
investments, to review investment manager performance, to ensure compliance with the College’s investment 
policies and to evaluate the continued appropriateness of the College’s investment policies. The investment 
objectives of the College focus on minimizing risk, optimizing return and meeting the objectives established for 
specific types of funds. As well, the investments should reflect the fiduciary nature of the funds and the College’s 
perceived social responsibility.  
 
 
5. Financial Risk Management 
 
The College is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including market risks (price risk, currency risk and interest 
rate risk) credit risk and liquidity risk. To manage these risks, the College has established an investment policy 
with a target asset mix that is diversified by asset class with individual issuer limits and is designed to achieve a 
long-term rate of return that in real terms equals or exceeds total endowment expenditures with an acceptable 
level of risk. 
 
 
The College is exposed to the following risks: 
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Note 5 Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
 
Market risk 
The College is exposed to market risk - the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security, its 
issuer or general market factors affecting all securities. To manage this risk, the College has established an 
investment policy with a target asset mix that is diversified by asset class with individual issuer limits and is 
designed to achieve a long-term rate of return that in real terms equals or exceeds total endowment expenditures 
with an acceptable level of risk. 
 
The College assesses its portfolio sensitivity to a percentage increase or decrease in the market prices. The 
sensitivity rate is determined using the historical annualized standard deviation for the total portfolio over a four 
year period as determined by Mawer Investment Management Ltd.   
 
Portfolio Investments – Restricted for Endowments 
At June 30, 2018, if market prices had a 5.86% (2017 – 5.85%) increase or decrease, with all other variables 
held constant, the increase or decrease in accumulated remeasurement gains and losses and endowment net 
assets for the year would be $1,535,192 (2017 - $1,481,994). 
 
Portfolio Investments – Non Endowment 
At June 30, 2018, if market prices had a 4.06% (2017 – 3.89%) increase or decrease, with all other variables 
held constant, the increase or decrease in accumulated remeasurement gains and losses and net assets for the 
year would be $1,937,337 (2017 - $1,930,804). 
 
Foreign currency risk 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The College’s foreign exchange risk is limited due to the fact that 
its primary business activities are conducted in Canada using Canadian currency. Accordingly, the College is 
relatively insensitive to fluctuations in foreign currencies. 
 
The impact of a change in value of foreign currency portfolio investments is as follows: 
 
 
Portfolio Investments – Restricted for Endowments 
 
 

Currency Fair Value
2.5% 

decrease
1.0% 

decrease
1.0% 

increase
2.5% 

increase

Foreign Currency Assets 11,375,045$      (284,376)$         (113,750)$         113,750$          284,376$          
 
 
Portfolio Investments – Non Endowment 
 

Currency Fair Value
2.5% 

decrease
1.0% 

decrease
1.0% 

increase
2.5% 

increase

Foreign Currency Assets 11,783,662$      (294,592) (117,837) 117,837 294,592
 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the College will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities. The College maintains a short-term line of credit of $1,000,000 (2017 - $1,000,000) to ensure that 
funds are available to meet current and forecasted financial requirements. The account is not drawn upon at year 
end (2017 nil). 
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Note 5 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

 
 
Credit risk 
Counterparty credit risk is the risk of loss arising from the failure of a counterparty to fully honor its financial 
obligations with the College. The College is exposed to credit risk. The credit risk from accounts receivable is 
relatively low as the majority of balances are due from government departments and agencies. Credit risk from 
tuition is managed through restricted enrolment activities for students with delinquent balances and maintaining 
standard collection procedures. There is no direct credit risk associated with equity investments because they 
are held in pooled funds.  The credit risk associated with fixed income investments is minimized through the 
investment policy which establishes specific credit rating requirements. 
 
 
Portfolio Investments – Restricted for Endowments 
 
At June 30, 2018, the distribution of money market funds by risk rating area is as follows: 
 Money market funds: R-1(high) 100.0% (2017 - 100.0%); R-1(mid) 0.0% (2017 - 0.0%). 

   Bonds: AAA 40.55% (2017 - 42.76%); AA 29.11% (2017 - 25.45%); A 20.41% (2017 - 21.03%), 
              BBB 9.93% (2017 - 10.76%) 

        
    

Portfolio Investments – Non Endowment 
 
At June 30, 2018, the distribution of money market funds by risk rating area is as follows: 
 Money market funds: R-1(high) 100.0% (2017 - 100.0%); R-1(mid) 0.0% (2017 - 0.0%). 

  Bonds: AAA 37.16% (2017 - 42.38%); AA 37.56% (2017 - 27.23%); A 19.41% (2017 - 24.70%); BBB 5.87%  
              (2017 - 5.69%) 

 
 
 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk to the College’s earnings that arise from the fluctuations in interest rates and the 
degree of volatility of these rates. This risk is managed by contractually setting interest rates with banking 
Institutions. Interest risk on the College’s long-term liabilities is managed through fixed-risk agreements with 
Alberta Capital Finance Authority (note 8). 
 
The interest rates and terms to maturity of interest-bearing securities held by the College are as follows:  
 

Term <  1 year 1-5 years 6-10 years > 10 years

Average
 Effective 

Market Yield

% % % % %

T-Bills 100.0         -             -             -            1.2                

Cdn. Bonds -             30.7            42.4            26.9          2.2                 
 

Portfolio Investments – Restricted for Endowments 
At June 30, 2018, if interest rates increase by 0.3%, and all variables are held constant, the potential loss in fair 
value to the College would be approximately $194,000 of total investments (2017 – Loss of $182,000). 
 
Portfolio Investments – Non Endowment 
At June 30, 2018, if interest rates increase by 0.3%, and all variables are held constant, the potential loss in fair 
value to the College would be approximately $575,000 of total investments (2017 – Loss of $602,000). 
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6. Tangible Capital Assets 

 

Buildings, 
Infrastructure & 
Green Energy2

Land &  
Improvements

Furniture & 
Equipment 3

Computer 
Hardware and 

Software Other 4 Total

Cost1

Beginning of year 207,791,441$           12,472,623$         23,387,801$          14,365,087$          5,212,618$         263,229,570$          

Additions 39,455,316               38,234                  1,108,629              1,026,754              77,284                41,706,217$            

Disposals, including 
write-downs -                           -                        (505,498)                (606,231)                (14,947)              (1,126,676)$             

247,246,757$           12,510,857$         23,990,932$          14,785,610$          5,274,955$         303,809,111$          

Accumulated 
 Amortization
Beginning of year 69,728,820$             2,846,668$           18,015,964$          12,411,096$          3,442,593$         106,445,140$          

Amortization Expense 6,170,911                 181,276                1,478,937              1,153,919              428,154              9,413,197$              

Effects on disposals, 
including write-downs -                           -                        (428,168)                (606,230)                (14,309)              (1,048,707)$             

75,899,731$             3,027,944$           19,066,733$          12,958,785$          3,856,438$         114,809,629$          

Net book value at     
June 30, 2018 171,347,026$           9,482,913$           4,924,199$            1,826,825$            1,418,517$         188,999,482$          

Net book value at 
June 30, 2017 138,062,621$           9,625,956$           5,371,837$            1,953,991$            1,770,026$         156,784,430$          

2018

 
 

(1) Cost includes work-in-progress at June 30, 2018 totaling $10,333,587 (2017 $58,909,072) comprised of 
Buildings & Infrastructure $10,083,243 (2017 $58,666,394), Furniture & Equipment $161,695 (2017 $192,263) 
and Land Improvements $88,649 (2017 $50,415).  

(2) Included in additions for Building & Infrastructure is capitalized interest in the amount of $1,541,558 (2017 
$643,214). 

(3) Furniture & Equipment includes vehicles, heavy equipment, office equipment and furniture, and other 
equipment.   

(4) Other includes leasehold improvements and library books.   
 

The College has a permanent art collection which is not included on the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position in the amount of $1,845,604 (2017 $1,818,304).  The College received capital and operating Gift in Kind 
donations in 2018 of $148,090 and $192,003 respectively (2017 $0 and $185,674). 
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7. Employee Future Benefit Liabilities 
 

Employee future benefit liabilities are comprised of the following: 

2018 2017
LAPP Premiums for
   Long Term Disability 652,950$          652,950$        

SERP (defined benefit) 1,777,600         1,545,000       
Total 2,430,550$       2,197,950$     

 
A. Defined Benefit Plan Accounted for on a Defined Contribution Basis 
 
Multi-Employer Pension Plans 
Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP) is a multi-employer contributory defined benefit pension plan for eligible 
staff members and is accounted for on a defined contribution basis. At December 31, 2017, the LAPP reported 
an actuarial surplus of $4.84 billion (2016 - $637 million deficiency). An actuarial valuation of the LAPP was 
carried out as at December 31, 2016 and was then extrapolated to December 31, 2017. The pension expense 
recorded in these consolidated financial statements is $5,346,136 (2017 - $5,432,360). The College is not 
responsible for future funding of the plan deficit other than through contribution increases. 
 
B.  Defined Benefit Plan Accounted for on a Defined Benefit Basis 
 
Supplementary Employees Retirement Plan  
The College provides non-contributory defined benefit supplementary retirement benefits to eligible staff 
members.  An actuarial valuation of these benefits was carried out on June 30, 2018.  
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Note 7 Employee Future Benefit Liabilities (continued) 

   

2017
SERP (1) SERP (1) Other Plans (1) (2) Other Plans (1) (2)

Expense:
Current service cost 170,000$          289,300$          84,279$                     89,859$                  
Interest cost 43,100              39,100              -                                -                              
Benefits paid (41,200)             (40,700)            -                                -                              
Amortization of losses 60,700              85,100              -                                -                              
Total expense 232,600$          372,800$          84,279$                     89,859$                  

Financial Position
Accrued benefit obligation:
  Balance, beginning of year 1,545,000$       1,172,200$       652,950$                   652,950$                
  Current service cost 170,000            289,300            84,279                      89,859                    
  Interest cost 43,100              39,100              -                                -                              
  Amortization of losses 60,700              85,100              -                                -                              
  Benefits paid (41,200)             (40,700)            (84,279)                     (89,859)                   
  Actuarial gain 211,200            149,400            -                                -                              
Balance, end of year 1,988,800$       1,694,400$       652,950$                   652,950$                
Plan assets -                        -                       -                                -                              
Plan deficit 1,988,800$       1,694,400$       652,950$                   652,950$                
Unamortized net actuarial loss (211,200)           (149,400)          -                                -                              
Unamortized past service cost -                        -                       -                                -                              
Accrued benefit liability 1,777,600$       1,545,000$       652,950$                   652,950$                

20172018 2018

 
The expense and financial position of these defined benefit plans are as follows: 

 
(1) The expense related to these plans is included on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and the 

accrued benefit liability is recorded under employee future benefit liabilities on the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position.    

  

(2) Other plans consist of: 
 Sabbatical and LAPP Premiums for long term disability recipients. 

 
The significant actuarial assumptions used to measure the accrued benefit obligation are as follows: 
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Note 7 Employee Future Benefit Liabilities (continued) 
 

 

Supplementary 
retirement

Supplementary 
retirement

Accrued benefit obligation:
  Discount rate 3.20% 2.45%
  Long-term average
    compensation  increase 3.6 4.0

Benefit cost:
  Discount rate 3.20% 2.45%
  Long-term average
    compensation increase 3.6 4.0

Alberta inflation long term 2.10% 2.50%

Estimated average 4 5
    remaining service life

20172018

 
 
 
C. Other Employee Benefits 
 

Sabbatical Leave 
A faculty association member may be entitled to a sabbatical leave.  The College records a liability and a cost for 
sabbatical leave when the event occurs that obligates the College. The amount of sabbatical leave accrued each 
year is recorded using the projected benefit method, prorated on services.  Under this method, an equal portion 
of the total estimated benefit is attributed to each year of service remaining.  The present value of the accrued 
sabbatical leave is calculated using the College’s cost of borrowing, except when the sabbatical will be paid out 
within a year. 

 
LAPP Premiums for Long-Term Disability Recipients  
Long term disability benefits are provided by an external provider. While an employee is receiving long-term 
disability benefits, the College is responsible for paying the employers portion of LAPP contributions.   The 
liability remains unchanged from 2017. 
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8.  Debt 
 

 
Debt is measured at amortized cost and is comprised of the following: 

 
Collateral Maturity Interest Rate 2018 2017

Debentures payable to Alberta Capital 
Finance Authority:

Student Residences 1 Apr-25 6.25% 1,106,825$             1,229,987$           

Student Residences 1 Apr-26 6.00% 1,033,480               1,131,988             

Student Residences 1 Jun-30 4.52% 987,019                  1,047,814             

Student Residences 1 Jun-32 5.00% 1,055,688               1,106,758             

Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre 1 Dec-46 3.34% 33,000,000             33,000,000           

Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre 1 Mar-27 2.29% 19,000,000             19,000,000           

Student Residences 1 Dec-37 2.91% 17,500,000             -                            

Balance, debentures 73,683,012$           56,516,547$         

Obligations under capital lease -                             1,385                    

73,683,012$           56,517,932$         

(1) A general security agreement is in place over which RDC has granted a security interest in it's property as collateral. 

 
Principal and interest repayments in each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 

 
 

Principal Interest Total
2019 1 3,332,004$          2,195,229        5,527,233$          
2020 3,783,734            2,154,222        5,937,956            

2021 3,895,854            2,042,103        5,937,957            

2022 4,011,688            1,926,270        5,937,958            
2023 4,131,375            1,806,582        5,937,957            

          Thereafter 54,528,357          17,348,929      71,877,286          

73,683,012$        27,473,335$    101,156,347$      

 
(1) A portion of interest expense payable in 2019 ($241,766) will be capitalized as part of building construction 

cost. 
 
 

Interest expense on debt is $242,590 (2017 - $260,729) and is included on the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations. 
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9.  Deferred Revenue 
 
Deferred revenues are set aside for specific purposes as required either by legislation, regulation or agreement: 

 

2017

Deferred Research 
and Special 

Purpose

Unspent deferred 
capital 

contributions
Tution and 
other fees Total Total

Balance, beginning of year 17,172,999$          5,425,111$            2,245,775$        24,843,885$         35,844,144$     
Grants, tuition, and donations 7,337,208              7,063,384              2,407,411          16,808,003           14,812,674       
Investment income (note 15) 1,699,028              104,180                -                    1,803,208             1,478,724         
Transfers to spent deferred capital contributions (242,474)                (4,236,886)            -                    (4,479,360)            (16,176,989)      
Transfers to endowment (57,970)                  -                        -                    (57,970)                (288,374)          
Recognized as revenue (8,792,497)             (1,115,125)            (2,641,448)        (12,549,070)          (11,523,718)      
Change in unrealized gain on investments (150,389)                -                        -                    (150,389)               697,424            
Balance, end of year 16,965,905$          7,240,664$            2,011,738$        26,218,307$         24,843,885$     

2018

 
 
 
 
 
10. Spent Deferred Capital Contributions 
 
Spent deferred capital contributions is comprised of restricted grants and donations spent on tangible capital 
acquisitions (not yet recognized as revenue). 

 
2018 2017

Spent deferred capital contributions, beginning of year 105,935,379$            94,615,066$              

Transfers from unspent deferred capital contributions 4,236,886                  14,234,870                

Transfers from deferred contributions 242,474                     1,942,119                  

Expended capital recognized as revenue (5,531,869)                 (4,856,676)                 

Spent deferred capital contributions, end of year 104,882,869$            105,935,379$            
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11. Net Assets 
 

 
The composition of net assets is as follows: 

Accumulated
surplus 

 from
operations

Investment 
in tangible

capital
assets 1

Internally
restricted

surplus Endowments Total

Net assets, as at June 30, 2016 16,411,637$    19,527,891$    2,591,962$   16,486,888$    55,018,378$    
Annual operating surplus 2,497,469        -                       -                    -                       2,497,469        
Endowments

New donations -                       -                       -                    370,054           370,054           
Capitalized investment income -                       -                       348,148           348,148           
Transfer to (from) endowments (9,355)              -                       -                    9,355               -                       

Tangible Capital Assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets 2,466,460        (2,466,460)       -                    -                       -                       
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,773,942)       2,973,942        (1,200,000)    -                       -                       
Debt repayment (350,978)          350,978           -                    -                       -                       
Net book value of tangible capital asset disposals 27,036             (27,036)            -                    -                       -                       

Operating expenses funded from internally restricted surplus 151,358           -                       (151,358)       -                       -                       
Net Appropriation to internally restricted surplus (4,738,495)       -                       4,738,495     -                       -                       
Change in accumulated remeasurement (losses) (552,069)          -                       -                    -                       (552,069)          

Net assets, beginning of year, July 1, 2017 14,129,121$    20,359,315$    5,979,099$   17,214,445$    57,681,980$    
Annual operating surplus 743,288           743,288           
Endowments

New donations -                       -                       -                    98,543             98,543             
Capitalized investment income -                       -                       -                    491,998           491,998           
Transfer to (from) endowments -                       -                       -                    -                       -                       

Tangible Capital Assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets 3,902,256        (3,902,256)       -                    -                       -                       
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,263,883)       5,866,967        (4,603,084)    -                       -                       
Debt repayment (334,921)          334,921           -                    -                       -                       
Net book value of tangible capital asset disposals 57,036             (57,036)            -                    -                       -                       

Operating expenses funded from internally restricted surplus 85,128             -                       (85,128)         -                       -                       
Net Board Appropriation to internally restricted surplus 236,108           -                       (236,108)       -                       -                       
Change in accumulated remeasurement (losses) (589,830)          -                       -                    -                       (589,830)          
Net assets, end of year, June 30, 2018 16,964,303$    22,601,911$    1,054,779$   17,804,986$    58,425,979$    

Net Assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus 11,913,446$    22,601,911$    1,054,779$   17,804,986$    53,375,122$    
Accumulated remeasurement gains 5,050,857        -                   -                -                   5,050,857$      

16,964,303$    22,601,911$    1,054,779$   17,804,986$    58,425,979$    

 
 

(1) Investment in tangible capital assets represents the amount of the College’s accumulated surplus that has been 
invested in the College’s tangible capital assets. 
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12. Internally Restricted Surplus 
  
Internally restricted net assets represent amounts set aside by the College’s Board of Governors for specific purposes. 
Those amounts are not available for other purposes without the approval of the Board and do not have interest 
allocated to them. Internally restricted net assets are summarized as follows: 

 
 

Reserve: Reserve for: 2018 2017

Residence Capital Renewal Residence Capital Improvements 686,121$      863,317$           
Innovation Instruction Fund Board Faculty Professional Development 161,955        241,929             
College Sustainability Fund Projects to Support Strategic Goals

(Student Residence Construction Project) 37,461          37,461               
Professional Development Fund Provide Employees with Professional 

Development opportunities -                9,573                 
Arts Centre Facility Enhancement Arts Centre Facilty Improvements 161,876        147,252             
Affairs of the Arts Arts Departments Capital Equipment 7,366            12,520               
Strategic Investment Fund Projects 
(SIF)

Greeen Energy Master Plan & Alternative
Energy Innovation labs Infrastructure 

-                4,667,047          

Total 1,054,779$   5,979,099$         
 
 
13.  Contractual Rights  

 
Contractual rights are rights of the institution to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that will 
result in both assets and revenues in the future when the terms of those contracts or agreements are met. 
 
Estimated amounts that will be received or receivable for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 
 

 
Grants & 
Contracts

Sponsorships &
Operating Leases Total

2019 2,147,001$                138,032$                   2,285,033$                
2020 1,057,222 47,000 1,104,222
2021 1,042,917 25,500 1,068,417
2022 1,000,000 13,000 1,013,000
2023 1,000,000 9,500 1,009,500

Thereafter 2,000,000 57,000 2,057,000
Total at June 30, 2018 8,247,140$                290,032$                   8,537,172$                

Total at June 30, 2017 13,304,335$              307,632$                   13,611,967$               
 

Included in contractual rights is $7.0 million as at June 30, 2018 ($9.0 million as at June 30, 2017) pertaining to an 
agreement between Red Deer College and The City of Red Deer & 2019 Canada Winter Games Host Society in 
support of the Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre. 
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14. Contractual Obligations  
 
The College has contractual obligations which are commitments that will become liabilities in the future when the 
terms of the contracts or agreements are met. The estimated aggregate amount payable for the unexpired terms of 
these contractual obligations are as follows: 
 

2018 2017

Service contracts 6,064,462$            6,556,495$            
Capital projects 12,028,935            30,361,137            
Long-term leases 8,734,953               3,425,042               

26,828,350$          40,342,674$          

 
The estimated aggregate amounts payable for the unexpired terms of these contractual obligations are as follows: 

Service 
Contracts Capital Projects

Long-term 
Leases Total

2019  $        4,335,417  $       12,028,935  $            747,366  $        17,111,718 
2020            1,729,045                            -                815,308              2,544,353 
2021                           -                            -                815,308                 815,308    

2022                           -                            -                856,613                 856,613 
2023                           -                            -                856,613                 856,613 
Thereafter             4,643,745              4,643,745 

 $        6,064,462  $       12,028,935  $         8,734,953  $        26,828,350 
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15. Investment Income  

 
 
 

16. Accounts Receivable 
 

2018 2017
Accrued Interest 80,290$                 50,998$                 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (30,000)                  (30,000)                  
ACFA Debenture Receivable 4,300,000              7,000,000              
Other Accounts Receivable 3,198,906              2,360,521              

7,549,196$            9,381,519$            

 
 
 
 

17. Expense by Object 
 

The following is a summary of expense by object. 

2017
Budget Actual Actual

           (note 22)
Salaries & benefits 67,887,600$        66,744,063$          68,143,169$       
Materials, supplies and services 18,158,400          19,420,058            19,185,778         
Utilities 2,628,000            2,647,356              2,513,627           
Maintenance and repairs 3,000,000            3,192,898              3,431,054           
Scholarships and bursaries 750,000               1,037,766              1,035,272           
Amortization of capital assets and loss on 
disposals 10,083,000          9,491,164              7,350,173           
Interest on Debt 249,000               242,590                 260,729              

102,756,000$      102,775,895$        101,919,802$     

2018

 
 
 
 
 
 

2018 2017

Income on investments held for endowments 1,967,990$             1,392,591$           
Income on other investments 2,674,533               2,773,118             
Joint venture investment Income 35,169                    33,609                  
Total investment income 4,677,692$             4,199,318$           

Amount earned on deferred capital funds (note 9) 104,180$                96,215$                
Amount earned on deferred funds (note 9) 1,699,028               1,382,509             
Investment Income - contributed to endowments 491,998                  348,148                
Restricted investment income 2,295,206$             1,826,872$           

Unrestricted investment income 2,382,486$             2,372,446$           
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18.   Restricted Funds for Other Entities 
 

The College holds the following restricted funds for other entities over which the Board has no power of appropriation. 
These funds are included with the liabilities in the consolidated financial statements. 
 

2018 2017

 Tenants Association 38,402$         61,774$         
 Other Associations 9,352             8,273             
 Total 47,754$         70,047$         

               
                      

19. Related Parties 
 

 
The College is a related party with organizations within the Government of Alberta reporting entity.  Key management 
personnel of the institution and their close family members are also considered related parties.  The College may 
enter into transactions with these entities and individuals in the normal course of operations and on normal terms. 
 
The College did not have any material transactions with any related parties that would have taken place at a value 
different then that would have been arrived at if the parties were unrelated. The transactions with related parties were 
entered into on the same business terms as with non-related parties and have been incorporated into the College’s 
consolidated financial statements.  
 
The College has liabilities with Alberta Capital Finance Authority as described in Note 8. 
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20.  Government Transfers 
 

2018 2017

Contributions from Government of Alberta (GOA):

Advanced Education:

Operating Grants 55,058,424$    55,545,631$           

Infrastructure renewal and maintenance 2,055,701        1,388,820               

Strategic Investment Fund 2,156,521        2,353,544               

Other 1,325,264        605,960                  

Total  Advanced Education: 60,595,910 59,893,955

Other GOA departments and agencies grants:

        Alberta Innovates 190,740           221,250                  

       Alberta Foundation for the Arts 130,000           130,000                  

       Other 104,307           325,483                  

   Total other GOA departments and agencies: 425,047 676,733

Total contributions received 61,020,957      60,570,688             

Net transfers to deferred contributions (1,763,830)       (1,963,576)             

Restricted expended capital recognized as revenue 4,883,486        4,245,903               

64,140,613$    62,853,015$           

Other Revenue:
  Other Post Secondary Institutions 1,512,493$      1,263,935$             
  Alberta Health Services 161,030           106,290                  
  Human Services 299,909           245,356                  
  Other GOA departments and agencies 843,290           383,100                  

2,816,722$      1,998,681$             

Federal and other government grants:
Contributions received 540,099$         769,424$                
Net transfers from deferred contributions 131,774           256,227                  
Restricted expended capital recognized as revenue 20,746             126,834                  

692,619$         1,152,485$              
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21. Salary and Employee Benefits  

 
2017

Other Other

Base cash non-cash
salary (1) benefits (2) benefits (3) (4) Total Total

Governance  

Chair of the Board of Governors -$               3,000$        -$               3,000$        2,341$        

Members of the Board of Governors -                16,852        -                16,852        17,780        

Executive
President (5) 337,547      -                121,981      459,528      548,628      

Vice Presidents:

Vice President Academic 218,248      -                58,013        276,261      283,257      

Vice President College Services /CFO 198,119      -                58,194        256,313      261,736      
    Vice President Business Development 198,119      -                53,694        251,813      253,336      
    Vice President Corporate (6) 135,503      -                8,692         144,195      -                

    Vice President of Human Resources (7) -                -                -                -                422,461      

1,087,536$ 19,852$      300,574$    1,407,962$ 1,789,539$ 

2018

 
 

(1) Salary includes pensionable base pay. 
(2) Other cash benefits include retro-pay and honoraria. 
(3) Other non-cash benefits include: 

 Employer’s current and prior service cost of Supplemental retirement plan as per note 21-(4) below 
 Share of all employee benefits and contributions or payments made on behalf of employees including 

pension, health care, dental coverage, vision coverage, out of country medical benefits, group life  
Insurance, accidental disability and dismemberment insurance, long and short term disability plan, 
professional memberships and tuition. 

(4) Under the Supplementary Employees Retirement Plan (SERP), employees may receive supplemental 
retirement payments. Retirement arrangement costs as detailed below are not cash payments in the period 
but are the period expense for rights to future compensations. Costs reflect the total estimated cost to 
provide annual pension income over an actuarially determined post-employment period. SERP provides 
future pension benefits to participants (included in current President’s contract) based on years of service 
and earnings. The cost of these benefits is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method pro-
rated on services, a market interest rate and management’s best estimate of expected costs and the period 
of benefit coverage. 
Net actuarial gains and losses of the benefit obligations are amortized over the average remaining service 
life of the employee group. Current service cost is the actuarial present value of the benefits earned in the 
fiscal year. Prior service and other costs include amortization of past service costs on plan initiation, 
amortization of actuarial gains and losses and interest accruing on the actuarial liability. 

(5) The president accrued the equivalent of 2 years’ service under the SERP for the year ending June 30, 2017. 
(6) The individual occupied this position for 8 ½ months during the fiscal year.  
(7) Included in Other Cash Benefits is $187,064 in severance benefits paid for the year ending June 30, 2017 

as a result of a termination agreement. 
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Note 21 Salary and Employee Benefits (continued) 
 

 
The current service cost and accrued obligation for each executive under the SERP is outlined in the following table. 

 

Accrued 
Obligation

June 30, 2017
Service
Costs

Interest
Costs

Benefit 
Payments

Actuarial 
Loss 

(Gain)

Accrued 
Obligation
June 30, 

2018

President:  $         388,000  $   87,300  $   10,500  $             -  $  (86,500)  $     399,300 

Vice Presidents:                 - 

Vice President College Services               41,200       27,900         1,400                 -      (18,900)           51,600 

Vice President 
   Business Development             341,500       23,400         8,700                 -      (76,900)         296,700 

Vice President Human Resources               19,400                 -            500                 -        (7,500)           12,400 

Vice President Academic               47,900       31,400         1,600                 -      (18,200)           62,700 

Other employees participating in SERP             856,400                 -       20,400      (41,200)      (91,900)         743,700 

 $      1,694,400  $ 170,000  $   43,100  $  (41,200)  $(299,900)  $  1,566,400 
 
 The significant actuarial assumptions used to measure the accrued benefit obligation are disclosed in note 7. 
 
 

 
22. Budget Figures 
 
Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from the College’s 
Comprehensive Institutional Plan 2017/18 – 2019/20, as approved by the Board of Governors.   
 
 
23. Approval of Financial Statements 
 
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Governors of Red Deer College. 
 
 
24. Comparative Figures 
 
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. 
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COAT OF ARMS 
In 2004, a coat of arms incorporating a number of traditional symbols 

associated with Red Deer College, the Province of Alberta or with learning 
was officially granted by the Canadian Heraldic Authority. 

Original concept by Dr. Darren S.A. George, assisted by the Heralds of the 
Canadian Heraldic Authority.

MOTTO
Ad Augustiora Per Eruditionem

 is a Latin phrase devised especially for the College.  
It means “To greater things through learning”.
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